# STRAIN IMPROVEMENT OF *Pleurotus giganteus* (BERK.) KARUNARATHNA & K. D. HYDE VIA CONVENTIONAL MATING TECHNIQUES

HA KWAN YUN

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

# STRAIN IMPROVEMENT OF *Pleurotus giganteus* (BERK.) KARUNARATHNA & K. D. HYDE VIA CONVENTIONAL MATING TECHNIQUES

HA KWAN YUN

## DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

## INSTITUTE OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

# UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: Ha Kwan Yun

Matric No: SGR 130035

Name of Degree: Master of Science

Title of Dissertation/Thesis: Strain Improvement of *Pleurotus giganteus* (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde via Conventional Mating Techniques

Field of Study: Biotechnology

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

# STRAIN IMPROVEMENT OF *Pleurotus giganteus* (BERK.) KARUNARATHNA & K.D. HYDE VIA CONVENTIONAL MATING TECHNIQUES

#### ABSTRACT

Recently, a commercial strain of *Pleurotus giganteus* (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde from China has been cultivated in Malaysia. *Pleurotus giganteus* was prone to insect infestation which led to heavy losses for farmers. The aim of this study was to generate new hybrids of *P. giganteus* that maybe resistant to pest and contamination. The commercial strain of *P. giganteus* from China (KLU-M 1227) and a wild strain from Malaysia (KLU-M 1391) were subjected to intraspecific breeding. Of the 56 combinations, 16 hybrids were obtained. All the 16 hybrids together with the parents were subjected to radial and linear growth study. Based on the median value, the hybrids were grouped into slow-growing with radial growth rate < 0.715 cm/day and linear growth rate < 0.295 cm/day, and fast-growing with radial growth rate  $\ge 0.715$  cm/day and linear growth rate  $\geq 0.295$  cm/day. The fast-growing strains with higher linear growth rate were tested for susceptibility to Trichoderma saturnisporum. The parents and three hybrids which were least susceptible to T. saturnisporum were cultivated. The parents and hybrids showed variation in the number of days for primordia formation and number of fruit bodies formed. Hybrid IH 32 gave the highest yield. The average biological efficiency of hybrid IH 32 for all the three generations was 479.66% higher compared to the parent KLU-M 1227 and 32.35% higher compared to the parent KLU-M 1391. The hybrid IH 32 had high nutritive values as it contained per 100g (dry weight): protein (16.3g), very high carbohydrate (6.8g), dietary fiber (2.73g), essential fatty acid, minerals, essential amino acids and vitamin B1 (7.8mg) and vitamin B3 (73.1mg).

Keywords: Pleurotus giganteus, hybrid, biological efficiency

# PENAMBAHBAIKAN STRAIN *Pleurotus giganteus* (BERK.) KARUNARATHNA & K.D. HYDE MELALUI KAEDAH MENGAWAN KONVENSIONAL

#### ABSTRAK

Kebelakangan ini, satu strain komersial *Pleurotus giganteus* (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde dari China telah tanam di Malaysia. Pleurotus giganteus cenderung kepada serangan serangga dan ini mengakibatkan kerugian besar kepada para penanam cendawan. Tujuan kajian ini adalah untuk menghasilkan hibrid baru P. giganteus yang mempunyai kerentangan terhadap serangga dan kontaminasi. Strain komersial P. giganteus dari China (KLU-M 1227) telah dikacukkan dengan satu strain liar dari Malaysia (KLU-M 1391). Daripada 56 kombinasi kacukan, 16 hibrid telah diperolehi. Kajian kadar pertumbuhan linear telah dijalankan ke atas hibrid-hibrid baru itu bersama strain induk terbabit. Berdasarkan nilai median, kesemua hibrid baru itu dibahagikan kepada kategori kadar pertumbuhan rendah (kadar pertumbuhan < 0.295 cm/hari) dan kategori kadar pertumbuhan tinggi (kadar pertumbuhan  $\geq 0.295$  cm/hari). Hibrid baru dengan kadar pertumbuhan tinggi diujikan dari segi kerentangan terhadap Trichoderma saturnisporum. Strain induk dan tiga hibrid baru yang mempunyai kerentanan terendah terhadap T. saturnisporum ditanam. Strain induk dan hibrid menunjukkan variasi di antara bilangan hari bagi pertumbuhan putik cendawan dan jumlah jana buah yang dihasilkan. Hibrid IH 32 memberikan jumlah hasil jana buah tertinggi. Kadar purata kecekapan biologi bagi hibrid IH 32 untuk ketiga-tiga generasi itu adalah 479.66% lebih tinggi daripada strain induk KLU-M 1227 dan 32.35% lebih tinggi daripada strain induk KLU-M 1391. Hibrid IH 32 mempunyai nilai pemakanan yang tinggi dengan kandungan per 100g (berat kering) protein (16.3g), karbohidrat (6.8g), serat (2.73g), asid lemak penting, mineral, asid amino penting dan vitamin B1 (7.8mg) dan vitamin B3 (73.1mg).

Kata kunci: Pleurotus giganteus, hybrid, kecekapan biologi

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Dr. Vikineswary Sabaratnam and Dr. Tan Yee Shin who have been giving me excellent guidance throughout my research. Furthermore, I am grateful to University of Malaya for the financial support with grants UMRG Program RP 005A-13 AFR; PPP:PG063-2013B and UM.C/625/1/HIR-MOHE/ASH/01(W4). Last but not least, I appreciate my labmates who have been helping me during the research, as well as my family and friends who have been giving me support all these while. Without them I would not have the spirit to carry on with my research progression.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iii
Abstrak	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	viii
List of Tables	x
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	xii
List of Appendices	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5

# **CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

3.1	Fungal strain1	1
3.2	Fungal identification1	2
	3.2.1 DNA extraction	2
	3.2.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction	3
	3.2.3 DNA sequencing	3
3.3	Mating studies1	4
	3.3.1 Isolation of single spores and monokaryon cultures1	4
	3.3.2 Mating of monokaryons of different strains1	4
3.4	Radial growth study1	4
3.5	Linear growth study1	5
3.6	Susceptibility of the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> to <i>T. saturnisporum</i>	6

3.7	Cultivation of the parents and selected hybrids	18
3.8	Nutritional analysis of the parents and selected hybrids	19
3.9	Statistical analysis	19
CHA	PTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	20
4.1	Fungal identification	20
4.2	Mating studies of <i>P. giganteus</i>	22
4.3	Radial growth study of the parents and all the hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	24
4.4	Linear growth study of the parents and selected hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	26
4.5	Susceptibility of the parents and selected hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> to <i>T. saturnisporum</i>	31
4.6	Cultivation of the parents and selected hybrids	34
	4.6.1 Conventional cultivation method	34
	4.6.2 Soil-casing cultivation method.	35
	4.6.3 Cultivation of the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> using soil-casing cultivation method.	42
4.7	Nutritional analysis of the parents and selected hybrids	
	4.7.1 Nutrient content	49
	4.7.2 Mineral content	51
	4.7.3 Lipid content	53
	4.7.4 Vitamin content	55
	4.7.5 Amino acid content	56

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	
CHAPTER 6: REFERENCES	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	<i>Pleurotus giganteus</i> growing in natural habitat. Bar A = 5.0 cm. (Photo by Azliza Anuar, 2016)
Figure 3.1	Different types of interaction between <i>P.giganteus</i> and <i>T. saturnisporum</i>
Figure 4.1	The germinated basidiospores (in red circles) on a 7-days old PDA culture
Figure 4.2	Clamp connections (shown by arrows) formed by <i>P. giganteus</i> , magnification 400x
Figure 4.3	Average radial growth rate of hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> on PDA at $26\pm2^{\circ}$ C. Average radial growth rate of the parent KLU-M 1227 was 0.40 cm/day and the parent KLU-M 1391 was 0.28 cm/day. Value means of 3 replicates ( <i>p</i> <0.05)
Figure 4.4	Primordia formed by hybrids: (A) IH 35 (replicate 1); (B) IH 32 (replicate 1); (C) IH 22 (replicate 1); (D) IH 22 (replicate 2); (E) IH 15 (replicate 1); (F) IH 36 (replicate 1); (G) IH 36 (replicate 2); (H) IH 30 (replicate 1); on day 26 during mycelium colonization of sawdust substrate, incubated at room temperature $26\pm2^{\circ}C$
Figure 4.5	Average linear growth rate of hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> [at $26\pm2^{\circ}$ C in dark condition; substrate: 89% (w/w) sawdust, 10% (w/w) rice bran, 1% (w/w) calcium carbonate]. Average linear growth rate of the parent KLU-M 1227 was 0.18 cm/day and the parent KLU-M 1391 was 0.19 cm/day. Value mean of 3 replicates ( <i>p</i> <0.05)
Figure 4.6	Linear growth study of the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i> : (A) KLU-M 1227; (B) KLU- M 1391; (C) IH 12; (D) IH 17; (E) IH 30; (F) IH 29; (G) IH 35; (H) IH 28; (I) IH 36; (J)IH 37; on day 24 during mycelium colonization of sawdust substrate, incubated at room temperature 26±2°C)
Figure 4.7	Susceptibility of <i>P. giganteus</i> to <i>T. saturnisporum</i> (a) <i>T. saturnisporum</i> fully covered the PDA plate on 2 <sup>nd</sup> day after inoculation; (b) IH 17; (c) IH 15; (d) IH 32; (e) KLU-M 1227. (f) KLU-M 1391. (A) 1 <sup>st</sup> week; (B) 4 <sup>th</sup> week and (C) Control one week after <i>T. saturnisporum</i> inoculation

Figure 4.8	Fruit bodies of the cultivated <i>P. giganteus</i> . (a) Conventional cultivation method: a(i) long stipe formed at the bottom of mushroom bag; a(ii) long coiling stipe formed in the mushroom bag; a(iii) long stipe formed by fruit bodies; (b) absence of long stipe using in soil-casing cultivation method.	40
Figure 4.9	Fruit bodies of the cultivated <i>P. giganteus</i> parents and hybrids in soil-casing cultivation; (a - d) The parent KLU-M 1227 had undeveloped primordia and deformed caps; (e) KLU-M 1391; (f) IH 15; (g) IH 17; (h) IH 32	41
Figure 4.10	Biological efficiency (%) of the parents and selected hybrids of three generations (F1-F3)	45

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1	Pleurotus giganteus strains collected from different origins were used in this study
Table 4.1	Blast results for nucleotide sequence of KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391. Only the top ten results with the best scores are shown
Table 4.2	Crossing between mononokaryons of <i>P.giganteus</i> (after 10 days of incubation at room temperature 26°±2°C)23
Table 4.3	Mid parent heterosis of the hybrids based on the radial growth rate26
Table 4.4	Mid parent heterosis of the hybrids based on the linear growth rate28
Table 4.5	The radial growth rate and linear growth rate of the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>
Table 4.6	Susceptibility of the hybrids of <i>P.giganteus</i> to <i>T. saturnisporum</i> 32
Table 4.7	Fruit body production of <i>P. giganteus</i> using conventional (C) and soil-casing (SC) cultivation methods
Table 4.8	Comparison of the fruit body production of the parents and hybrids in three generations
Table 4.9	Fruit body production of the parents and selected hybrids (of 30 replicates for each strain) in three generations
Table 4.10	Fruit body measurements of the parents and selected hybrids (of 30 replicates for each strain) in three generations of cultivation49
Table 4.11	Nutrients in freeze-dried mushrooms (g/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old
Table 4.12	Minerals of freeze-dried mushrooms (mg/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old
Table 4.13	Fatty acids composition of freeze-dried mushrooms (%) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old

Table 4.14	Table 4.14Vitamins of freeze-dried mushrooms (mg/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old.	
Table 4.15	Amino acids composition of freeze-dried mushrooms (g/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI)	57

university

#### LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- °C : Degree Celsius
- % : Percentage
- cm : Centimetre
- mm : Millimetre
- g : Gram
- w/w : Mass fraction
- ml : Millilitre
- PDA : Potato dextrose agar
- ITS : Internal transcribed spacer
- DNA : Deoxyribonucleic acid
- rDNA : Ribosomal deoxyribonucleic acid
- RFLP : Restriction fragment length polymorphism
- RAPD : Random Amplification of Polymorphic DNA
- AFLP : Amplified fragment length polymorphism
- PCR : Polymerase Chain Reaction
- BLAST: Basic Local Alignment Search Tool

### LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A	Radial growth study of all the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	68
Appendix B	One way ANOVA for radial growth rate of all the parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	72
Appendix C	Linear growth rate of all parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	82
Appendix D	One way ANOVA test for linear growth rate of all parents and hybrids of <i>P. giganteus</i>	85
Appendix E	Comparison between the fruit body production using conventional and soil-casing cultivation method	93
Appendix F	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production using conventional and soil-casing cultivation method	94
Appendix G	Comparison of fruit body production between the parents and selected hybrids of F1 cultivation	127
Appendix H	One way ANOVA test for the fruit body production of the parents and selected hybrids in F1 cultivation	130
Appendix I	Comparison of fruit body production between the parents and selected hybrids in F2 cultivation	141
Appendix J	One way ANOVA test for the fruit body production between the parents and selected hybrids in F2 cultivation	144
Appendix K	Comparison of fruit body production between the parents and selected hybrids in F3 cultivation	155
Appendix L	One way ANOVA test for the fruit body production between the parents and selected hybrids in F2 cultivation	158
Appendix M	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production of the parent KLU-M 1227 in three generations	167
Appendix N	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production of the parent KLU-M 1391 in three generations	173

Appendix O	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production of the hybrid IH 15 in three generations	178
Appendix P	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production of the hybrid IH 17 in three generations	
Appendix Q	One way ANOVA test for fruit body production of the hybrid IH 32 in three generations	
Appendix R	One way ANOVA test for biological efficiency of the parents and cultivated hybrids in three generations	193

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

In recent years, mushroom production has been increasing worldwide and introducing high income to the exporting countries such as Poland, China and United States (Food and Agriculture of the United Nations, 2010). According to the National Agro-Food Policy (2011-2020), Malaysia regards mushroom as one of the important food crop which possessed a high potential to contribute to food security and economic gains for the country (Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-Based Industry Malaysia, 2012). In Malaysia, *Pleurotus* species such as *Pleurotus pulmonarius* (Fr.) Quél., *Pleurotus floridanus* Singer and *Pleurotus cystidiosus* O.K. Mill. have a high demand among the consumers. As for *Pleurotus giganteus* (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde, this culinary and medicinal mushroom is still new to Malaysians.

The genus of *Pleurotus* is heterogeneous and mainly composed of edible mushrooms. It is popular for its high nutritional composition and medicinal properties (Khan & Tania, 2012; Stajić *et al.*, 2005). Members of this genus are also named as oyster mushrooms due to the formation of oyster-shell like pileus which attached to the stalk (Rajarathnam *et al.*, 1987).

The classification of *P. giganteus* has been revised a few times based on molecular information. It was formerly known as *Clitocybe maxima* or lowland Shiitake. Then, this species was revised as *Panus giganteus*, *Lentinus giganteus* and recently *Pleurotus giganteus* (Karunarathna *et al.*, 2011) based on molecular data. In Malaysia, it has been known as "cendawan seri pagi" (morning glory mushroom).

*Pleurotus giganteus* consists of large fruit body and is easily recognized (Karunarathna *et al.*, 2011). It is grouped among the largest edible mushroom in the world (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). Wild *P. giganteus* is widely consumed in Sri Lanka and Thailand

(Karunarathna *et al.*, 2011; Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). However, this species is still not commercialised in these two countries (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). Apart from these countries, occurrence of *P. giganteus* is reported in Vietnam, Australia (Pegler, 1983), China (Phan *et al.*, 2012; Zhishu *et al.*, 1993) and Oceania (Zhishu *et al.*, 1993). *Pleurotus giganteus* is one of the popular cultivated mushrooms in China.

In Malaysia, Lee *et al.* (2006) reported that *P. giganteus* was consumed by the native residents in Perak and Selangor. Pegler (1983) also discovered this species in Sabah, Malaysia. In some indigenous villages in Negeri Sembilan and Selangor, Malaysia, wild *P. giganteus* has been found growing on soil and dead logs (Batin Long, personal communication, April 4, 2014; Batin Seturi, personal communication, July 2, 2013).

According to Mortimer *et al.* (2012), domestication of *P. giganteus* in China was accomplished in the 1980's. Recently, a variety of this species domesticated in China was grown in Malaysia. In China, this mushroom grows mainly during the summer season, which is from May to August (Dong *et al.*, 2010). However, there is another study stating that the production of *P. giganteus* is best in spring, summer and autumn seasons, i.e. from May to October (Baike baidu, 2017). According to Dong *et al.* (2010), the suitable temperature for fructification ranged from 23°C to 32°C. In Malaysia, it was reported that the best fruiting season for this mushroom species was from April to May at Fraser's Hill, where the temperature ranged from 17°C to 25°C (Thi *et al.*, 2011). Since this mushroom species is reported to grow at tropical to subtropical zone, *P. giganteus* has the potential be cultivated widely in Malaysia as a new commercial variety of edible mushroom.

Dong *et al.* (2010) stated the potential development future of *P. giganteus* as a commercial culinary mushroom. Karunarathna *et al.* (2011) also deduced that cultivation of *P. giganteus* in Thailand may introduce high income mushroom industry.

This species has a high content of magnesium, potassium, amino acids, cobalt, iron and calcium which may benefit human health (Phan *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, *P. giganteus* has been reported to have medicinal properties such as hepatoprotective (Khan & Tania, 2012; Wong *et al.*, 2012), stimulate neurite outgrowth and mitigating neurodegenerative diseases (Phan *et al.*, 2012), reduce isolated skeletal muscular fatigue (Dong *et al.*, 2010; Huang *et al.*, 2005), anticancer, antimicrobial, antioxidant (Khan & Tania, 2012) and inhibit growth of *Candida* species (Phan *et al.*, 2013).

In China, the biological characteristics, nutritional value and cultivation methods of *P*. *giganteus* had been studied since year 1990 (Dong *et al.*, 2010). Whereas in Malaysia, documentation and mating studies of this species are still very limited. Klomklung *et al.* (2012) reported that this mushroom species took a long time to fruit and yields were low, which may contribute to a higher market price compared to other mushroom species. Kothe (2001) elucidated the importance of mating studies and breeding programs to generate improved strains that can produce higher yields and had a high resistance to contamination. Since it is starting to gain popularity worldwide, *P. giganteus* exhibits important value for research and commercial exploitation.

In Malaysia, *P. giganteus* has not been widely commercialised so far. Recently, it was cultivated at NAS Agro Farm, Sepang (Mr. Nabil, personal communication, April 2, 2013). However, this species was reported to form long coiling stipes in substrate bag. After harvest, the stipes which remained inside the mushroom bags attracted insects and pests, leading to serious contaminations and loss in yields. This led to heavy losses to the growers. Hence, the aim of this study was to develop new intra strain hybrids of *P. giganteus* for commercial exploitation via a breeding programme to obtain better quality strains resistant to pest and diseases.

The main objectives of this study were:

- a) to investigate the mating compatibility between *P. giganteus* strains from different origins.
- b) to study the physiological characteristics including growth rates, yield potentials and contamination resistance of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus*.
- c) to optimise the cultivation and analyse the biological efficiencies of the selected hybrids.
- d) to compare the nutritional profiles of the parents and selected hybrids of *P. giganteus*.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

According to Guzmán (2000), difficulties in the identification of *Pleurotus* spp. taxonomy has aroused the attention of researchers worldwide. A confusion of the taxonomy of *Panus-Lentinus-Pleurotus* species has been a contradiction for a long time (Hibbett *et al.*, 2008; Hibbett & Thorn, 1994; Hibbett & Vilgalys, 1991; Hibbett & Vilgalys, 1993; Phan *et al.*, 2012; Redhead & Ginns, 1985). Pegler (1983) reported that *Lentinus giganteus* possesses many structures which are deviated from the genus of *Lentinus. Lentinus giganteus* is similar to some *Pleurotus* species as it has distinct lamella edge with broad, differentiated lecythiform cheilocystidia and it has soft basidiomes with short life span (Karunarathna *et al.*, 2011).

Morphological tools are commonly used to classify the mushrooms. However, Bao *et al.* (2004) clarified that factors such as climate, environmental circumstances and cultivation substratum can cause the variation of morphological characteristics in higher fungi. Karunarathna *et al.* (2011) documented the transfer of *Lentinus giganteus* to *Pleurotus giganteus* using phylogenetic ITS-1-5.8S-ITS2 rDNA sequence data. In the molecular study of Karunarathna *et al.* (2011), the Chinese and Thai *P. giganteus* strains had high similarity and might have diverged from the Sri Lankan species due to geographical barriers. Karunarathna *et al.* (2011) observed micro-morphological differences between the *P. giganteus* collections from Sri Lanka, Thailand and China and suggested to have more collections for taxonomy confirmation. Apart from the molecular techniques, biochemical tests and mating compatibility tests are also performed to determine the taxonomy of *Pleurotus* spp. (Bao *et al.*, 2004).

*Pleurotus giganteus* (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde, documented by Mortimer *et al.* (2012), grows solitary most of the time, but can also be found growing in groups on

the ground (Figure 2.1). This species is saprobic, whereby it decomposes buried woody substrates (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012; Mortimer *et al.*, 2012). *Pleurotus giganteus* is distributed in lowland and mountain forest up to 3000 meters above sea level (Mortimer *et al.*, 2012). *Pleurotus giganteus* has a strongly convex to applanate pileus which is slightly depressed in the centre. Upon maturation, the shape of this species is funnel-like and can go up to 35 cm in diameter and 28 cm in height (Mortimer *et al.*, 2012). While Karunarathna *et al.* (2011) recorded the diameter measurement of pileus ranges between 6 cm to 31 cm. The occurrence of wild *P. giganteus* was reported in several regions of China, i.e. Guangdong, Fujian, Hunan, Hainan and Zhejiang (Cai, 2013).



**Figure 2.1:** *Pleurotus giganteus* growing in natural habitat. Bar A = 5.0 cm. (Photo by Azliza Anuar, 2016)

There are many molecular techniques being applied by researchers in fungal identity verification, for instance restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), random

amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD), small subunit ribosomal deoxyribonucleic acid (SSU rDNA) and internal transcribed spacer ITS1-5.8S rDNA-ITS2 region sequence analysis (Ro *et al.*, 2007). Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) had been carried out in genotypic identification of *Pleurotus eryngii* complex and *Pleurotus ferulae* (Urbanelli *et al.*, 2007). Jasalavich *et al.* (2000) used primer ITS1-F (CCT GGT CAT TTA GAG GAA GTA A) and ITS4 for PCR amplification in one of his researches as he clarified that primer ITS1-F is specific for higher fungi.

*Pleurotus giganteus* possesses a tetrapolar mating behaviour (Dong *et al.*, 2010). Previous studies indicated that *Pleurotus* spp. had a typical tetrapolar mating system (Eugenio & Anderson, 1968; Kothe, 2001; Larraya *et al.*, 2001; Roxon & Jong, 1977). Determination of mating-type genes is essential as these genes control the formation of a dikaryon from two monokaryotic strains (Kothe, 2001). According to Lee *et al.* (2011b), tetrapolar mating system possesses two mating-type loci. The loci contain multi-allelic genes which can result in a mating frequency exceeding 25% (Brown & Casselton, 2001). Four types of spores (AxBx, AxBy, AyBx, AyBy) are formed during meiosis. Among the mating types, AxBy and AyBx, AxBx and AyBy are compatible (Kothe, 2001). Gupta *et al.* (2011) stressed on the importance of hybridization using non-fertile homokaryotic strands in order to produce better genes. To start off hybridization, single basidiospores are the main meiotic products for the very first stage (Gupta *et al.*, 2011).

Mating is the first step to initiate the sexual development of mushroom-forming fungi (Van Peer *et al.*, 2011). Mating studies have been used to outline *Pleurotus* species for more than 25 years (Anderson *et al.*, 1973; Hilber, 1982). The mating process introduces the desirable characteristics from different strains into an existing germplasm (Gharehaghaji *et al.*, 2007). There are several methods used in mushroom breeding, for instance protoplast fusion, basidiospore chemical mutagenesis, basidiospores mating and

molecular genetic transformation (Lee et al., 2011b). Chakraborty and Sikdar (2007) raised somatic hybrids between Volvariella volvacea and P. florida through protoplast fusion. Genetic incompatibility was indicated by retarded growth of hybrid cultures, absence of clamp and basidiocarp formation, as well as secretion of white exudates and phenolic substances (Chakraborty & Sikdar, 2007). Changes in some V. volcacea chromosomes during spawn run might have triggered the genes to form clamps and basidiocarps in two hybrid lines (Chakraborty & Sikdar, 2007). An alternative way of mushroom breeding is the application of Buller phenomenon, a mechanism outcrossing a homokaryon and heterokaryon as described by Callac et al. (2006). Baral et al. (2017) developed P. flabellatus hybrids with higher nitrogen content and biological efficiency compared to the parents using conventional intraspecific mating techniques. Among these methods, conventional breeding is still widely adopted whereas the safety of genetic transformation method application is not guaranteed. Unintentional effects may be resulted from genetic engineering experiments which involve artificial method of recombinant DNA (Holdrege, 2008). Breeding, elucidated by Peberdy et al. (1993), is able to enhance multigenic properties such as gross nutritional value and growth rate.

The green mold, *Trichoderma* is one of the major contaminants of mushroom crops which limits commercial production and cause great loss to the mushroom growers. *Trichoderma harzianum* Rifai and *Trichoderma polysporum* (Link) Rifai produced antifungal substances and lytic enzymes which killed shiitake mushrooms (Seaby, 1998; Ulhoa & Perberdy, 1992). The occurrence of *Trichoderma* green mold had been reported attacking *Pleurotus* mushroom industries worldwide, including Hungaria (Hatvani *et al.*, 2007), Korea (Kim *et al.*, 2000; Park *et al.*, 2004), Italy (Woo *et al.*, 2004). According to Baars *et al.* (2013), *Trichoderma* spp. such as *T. saturnisporum* Hammill, *T. longibrachiatum* Rifai and *T. asperellum* Samuels, Lieckf. & Nirenberg are among the strong competitors of mushrooms.

According to Sonnenberg *et al.* (2005), a breeding program of *Agaricus bisporus* (J.E. Lange) Imbach was initiated in year 2002 in Netherlands, aimed to produce hybrids which can resist the two major pathogens of mushrooms, i.e. *Verticillium fungicola* (Preuss) Hassebr. and *Trichoderma aggressivum* Samuels & W. Gams. Apart from resistance to pathogens, characteristics such as pileus color, temperature tolerance, number of fruit bodies and flushing pattern can be improved by introducing new traits from wild collection into a commercial line.

Tongon and Soytong (2013) documented that the optimum condition for *P. giganteus* mycelial growth is at pH 7. While Klomklung *et al.* (2014) reported that this strain can grow in either acidic, neutral or alkaline conditions, but best at pH 5.0 to 7.0. The optimum temperature of the mycelial growth of this gigantic mushroom ranges from 15-35°C (Tongon & Soytong, 2013). Another study conducted by Klomklung *et al.* (2012) elucidated that the radial mycelia growth performed well at 25°C, 30°C and 20°C but at 35°C, the mycelium hardly grew. The mycelia can grow well on potato dextrose agar (Kumla *et al.*, 2013) and soy bean agar (Klomklung *et al.*, 2014).

Soil casing is able to promote primordial production of mushroom (Noble *et al.*, 2003; Kumla *et al.*, 2013). In China and Thailand, *P. giganteus* is cultivated using soil casing method, which is said to be important for the fruiting stage to promote better yield (Ruan *et al.* 2013; Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). Van Gerwen (2006) postulated that the mushroom size is highly impacted by the type of casing soil applied which indirectly affects the commercial value of the mushroom.

Apart from its medicinal properties, mushrooms are popular as a rich source of essential nutrients such as protein, fibre, carbohydrate and vitamin. *Pleurotus giganteus*, as reported by Qiu (2015), contains aspartate, crude protein and amino acids which are important for human body. Phan *et al.* (2014) also elucidated that this mushroom has

minerals and elements which are crucial to human health and thus it has potential to be a food source of well-balanced diet.

According to Valverde *et al.* (2015), *P. giganteus* contained higher amount of protein but also higher fatty acids content compared to *Pleurotus eryngii* and *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Since the protein level contained by mushrooms is higher than that of most of the vegetables, mushrooms are said to be a good choice for vegetarians since they also consist of essential amino acids for human health (Valverde *et al.*, 2015).

university

#### **CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1 Fungal strains

Two strains of *Pleurotus giganteus* from different origins were used in this study (Table 3.1). *Pleurotus giganteus* strain KLU-M 1227 from China was obtained from NAS Agro Farm. Whereas the wild strain KLU-M 1391 was found growing caespitose on soil within the compounds of University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. *Trichoderma saturnisporum* used in the susceptibility test was obtained from the Biotechnology laboratory of University of Malaya and identified by Mushroom Research Centre. All the fungal strains were maintained in Mycology and Plant Pathology Laboratory, Institute of Postgraduate Studies, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Macromorphology characteristics of the commercial and wild *P. giganteus* were described and compared between each other. The colors of both the commercial and wild *P. giganteus* were described based on Kornerup and Wanscher (1963).

**Table 3.1:** *Pleurotus giganteus* strains collected from different origins were used in this study

Code	Place of origin	Type of strain	
KLU-M 1227	China	Commercial	
KLU-M 1391	Malaysia	Wild	

#### **3.2** Fungal identification

#### 3.2.1 DNA extraction

DNA extraction was carried out using the E.Z.N.A<sup>TM</sup> Forensic DNA Isolation kit (Omega Bio-tek, Inc.) with slight modification. Fresh mycelia was picked aseptically and transferred into a 2ml sterile microfuge tube. A total of 200µl of STL Buffer was added into the microfuge tube then it was vortexed to mix thoroughly. The tube was incubated in waterbath at 55°C. The tube was vortexed every 2 min and this was continued for 15 min. 25µl of OB Protease Solution was then added to the tube and vortexed to mix well. The tube was incubated in 60°C waterbath and then vortexed every 5 min for 45 min. The tube was centrifuged and then 225µl of BL buffer was added. The tube was vortexed and incubated at 60°C for 10 min followed by a short spin of centrifuge and 225µl of absolute ethanol was added into the mixture. The tube was vortexed. A HiBind ® Mini Column was inserted to a 2ml collection tube provided with the DNA kit, then 100ml of 3M NaOH (equilibrium buffer) was added into the column and allowed to sit for 4 min. The entire sample was transferred to the column. The tube was centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min. The collection tube was discarded and replaced with new one. A total of 500µl of HBC Buffer (pre-diluted with absolute ethanol) was added into the column. The tube was centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min. The filtrate was discarded and 750µl of DNA wash buffer (pre-diluted with absolute ethanol) was pipetted into the column. The tube was then centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min. The collection tube was discarded. The column was transferred to a new 2ml collection tube. Once again, 750µl of DNA wash buffer was pipetted into the column and the tube was centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min. The filtrate was discarded and the collection tube was centrifuged at maximum speed for 2 min for drying purpose. The column was transferred into a 1.5ml microfuge tube. Then, 50µl of elution buffer was added into the microfuge tube. The tube was allowed to sit for 10 min at room temperature. After that, the tube was centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min and 50 µl

of elution buffer was added. The tube was allowed to sit for another 10 min at room temperature. Then the tube was centrifuged at 8,000 x g for 1 min and kept in freezer.

#### 3.2.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed to amplify the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region. In this study, ITS1 and ITS4 were selected as target sequence for amplification. Amplifications were carried out in a 50µl reactions consisting 1x PCR buffer (*i-Taq*<sup>TM</sup> *Plus*), 0.2mM deoxynucleotide triphosphate, 0.5mM of each of the appropriate primers, 1 unit of DNA Polymerase (*i-Taq*<sup>TM</sup> *Plus*), 1µl of DNA template and appropriate amount of sterile distilled water. Primer pairs of ITS1 (TCC GTA GGT GAA CCT GCG G) and ITS4 (TCC TCC GCT TAT TGA TAT GC) from Bioneer Corporation were used. Conditions for PCR amplification of ITS sequences were: initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 50°C for 30 seconds, elongation at 72°C for 1.5 min and final extension at 72°C for 10 min (Chew *et al.*, 2015). PCR amplification products were purified using MEGAquick-spin<sup>TM</sup> PCR then separated by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis in 1xTBE with RedSafe<sup>TM</sup> Nucleic Acid Staining Solution (iNtRON Biotechnology, Inc) at 100V for 60 min. DNA bands were visualised under UV light and photographed.

#### 3.2.3 DNA sequencing

The DNA strands were sent out to MyTACG Bioscience Enterprise, Selangor for sequencing. The sequences were assembled using ChromasPro software (Technelysium Pty Ltd) and aligned using MEGA 6 (Tamura *et al.*, 2013). Sequences were compared to the sequences in database of BLAST (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi?PROGRA M=blastn&PAGE\_TYPE=BlastSearch&LINK\_LOC=blasthome). The nucleotide sequences of KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 were compared to the BLAST results of its percentage identity and E-value.

#### 3.3 Mating Studies

#### 3.3.1 Isolation of single spores and monokaryon cultures

Monokaryons were obtained from a small piece of lamella selected by the spore drop technique (Petersen & Bermudes, 1992). The lamella was attached under the cover of potato dextrose agar (PDA) (Difco.) plate using vaseline. The agar plate was then sealed and incubated at a slanting angle at room temperature (26±2°C) for 24 hours. The lamella was then removed. The agar plate was further incubated at room temperature until the basidiospores germinated. The plate was observed under dissecting microscope for the germinated single spores. With the help of a modified fine inoculation needle, germinated single spores were transferred onto new PDA plates. The monokaryons on PDA were kept as stock cultures in sterile distilled water and refrigerated at 4°C (Castellani, 1968).

#### 3.3.2 Mating of monokaryons from different strains

Fast-growing monokaryotic isolates of the two parents were selected for intraspecific mating. Agar plugs of each isolate was placed on PDA plates, 10 mm apart from each other. The plates were then incubated at room temperature until the mycelia made contact. The contact zone of the isolates were cut and transferred onto a new PDA plate (Bao *et al.*, 2004). A piece of mycelium was picked from 10 days old culture using a needle, mounted on a slide and then checked for clamp connection under compound microscope. Hybrids were kept as stock cultures in sterile distilled water and refrigerated at 4°C (Castellani, 1968).

#### 3.4 Radial growth study

Seven millimetre mycelial disc was inoculated in the centre of PDA prepared in a 90mm Petri dish. The plate was incubated at room temperature 26±2°C in dark condition

(Soytong & Asue, 2012). The diameter of the colony was measured every 2 days at two perpendicular directions. The agar media inoculated with the parents served as controls. This experiment was carried out in five replicates for each parent and hybrid tested. Midparent heterosis was used to compare the performance of hybrids in comparison to the parents (Gixhari & Sulovari, 2010) as shown below:

Mid Parent Heterosis =	<u>F1- MP</u> MP	X 100					
Where $F1$ = mean of the linear growth rate of hybrid MP = mean of the linear growth rate of the two parents							

#### 3.5 Linear growth study

Substrate consisting of 89% (w/w) sawdust, 10% (w/w) rice bran and 1% (w/w) calcium carbonate was prepared in glass race tubes (160 mm x 25 mm). The moisture content of the substrate was around 73.5 $\pm$ 0.50%. The substrate (58.50g) was compressed to a 100 mm length in the tubes. The race tube was stoppered with non-absorbent cotton and then sterilised at 121°C for 15 mins. Mycelial disc (1cm) was taken from the growing edge of a 10 days old culture. The mycelial disc was then transferred to the substrate surface. The tubes were incubated at 26 $\pm$ 2°C in the dark. Visible mycelial extension was recorded at two perpendicular directions every 3 days up to day 15 (Straatsma *et al.*, 1989). The substrates inoculated with parental strains were used as controls. This experiment was carried out in triplicates for each parents and hybrids. The parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 were used as control. Mid-parent heterosis was calculated by referring to Gixhari and Sulovari (2010).

#### 3.6 Susceptibility of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* to *T. saturnisporum*

The fast-growing hybrids were chosen from linear growth study and paired interaction test with *Trichoderma saturnisporum* was conducted. Seven millimetre mycelial disc was transferred from a 10 days old culture to approximately 10 mm from the edge of a PDA plate. Seven days after the inoculation, a 7 mm mycelial disc of a 2 days old *T. saturnisporum* culture was inoculated opposite to the test strain 10 mm from the edge of the PDA plate. The parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* inoculated individually on the PDA plates served as control. Observations were made and photographs were taken every week up to the 4<sup>th</sup> week after *Trichoderma* inoculation. Three replicates were setup for each strain. Observations made on the 4<sup>th</sup> week after *T. saturnisporum* inoculation. By referring to Lee *et al.* (2008), the competitive interactions were categorised into three types: deadlock, no further growth of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* and *T. saturnisporum* after mycelial contact; highly susceptible, *T. saturnisporum* overgrew the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus*; weakly susceptible, the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* overgrew *T. saturnisporum* (Figure 3.1).

1 <sup>st</sup> week	4 <sup>th</sup> week	Symbol	Susceptibility		
		±	No further growth of the parent and hybrid strains of <i>P. giganteus</i> and <i>T. saturnisporum</i> after mycelial contact (Deadlock)		
		-	T. saturnisporum grew over the parent and hybrid strains of P. giganteus (High susceptibility)		
		+	The parent and hybrid strains of <i>P. giganteus</i> grew over <i>T.</i> <i>saturnisporum</i> (Weak susceptibility)		

Figure 3.1: Different types of interaction between *P.giganteus* and *T. saturnisporum* 

#### 3.7 Cultivation of the parents and selected hybrids

Both the parents and selected hybrids of P. giganteus were cultivated on sawdust substrate via the conventional method practiced in mushroom farms with and without soil. Mushroom bags consisting of 73-74% of water, 89% of sawdust, 10% of rice bran and 1% of calcium carbonate were prepared in polypropylene bags. The substrate, 300g in weight, was packed tightly and a central hole was made with the help of a 50ml centrifuge tube. The bags were then stoppered with caps and sterilised at 121°C for 15 min. After sterilization, the bags were allowed to cool to room temperature for 24 hours. The bags were then inoculated with spawn prepared on wheat grains and were incubated in dark at 26±2°C. When the bag was 50% colonised by the mycelium, the wheat grains were removed from the substrate under axenic condition with a sterile spatula. In the conventional method, a week after the mycelia had completely colonised the substrate, the bags were transferred to mushroom house at Institute of Biological Sciences, University of Malaya. The relative humidity above 70% and temperature 29±6°C was maintained in the house. The caps of the mushroom bags were removed for fruiting to occur. For the soil casing method, garden soil mixed with coconut husks was bought from a nursery at Sungai Buloh, Selangor and sterilised at 121°C for 15 min. The pH value of soil was measured using a pH meter. The soil was slightly moistened with tap water and then layered on top of the substrate for about 2 cm height. The bag opening was folded down until it was 3 cm above the soil layer. Three replicates were set up for each of the parents and selected hybrids for each cultivation method. After comparing the production results of conventional cultivation method and soil casing method, soil casing method was then carried out for three generations (namely F1, F2 and F3) with ten replicates each for the parents and selected hybrids. For each generation, fruit bodies of mushroom from that generation was sub-cultured onto PDA plate and then the mycelial culture was transferred to wheat grain for spawn run and then mushroom bags for cultivation.

18

Data such as the time required for spawn completion, duration from stimulation to primordia emergence, duration from stimulation to harvesting, total weight of fruit bodies, pileus diameter, stipe length and stipe thickness were recorded (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). The fruit bodies were harvested before maturity (the edge of the pileus were wavy). Color descriptions of the fruit bodies were recorded by referring to Kornerup and Wanscher (1963). Total biological efficiency was calculated with the formula as below:

$$Biological efficiency = \frac{Total weight of fresh fruit bodies}{Dry weight of substrate} \times 100$$

#### 3.8 Nutritional analysis of the parents and selected hybrid

Nutritional analysis of the hybrid which had the best biological efficiency was tested. The fruit bodies of *P. giganteus* parents and the selected hybrid were freeze-dried and analysed based on AOAC methods (DXN Laboratory). Nutrient contents tested included carbohydrate, protein, cholesterol, dietary fiber, total fat, saturated and unsaturated fats, vitamin, sugar, amino acid, mineral and lipid.

#### 3.9 Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed using the statistical package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) statistical software version 22 followed by Duncan's multiple range test for significant differences (p<0.05) between treatments.

#### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Fungal identification

The commercial strain of *P. giganteus* (KLU-M 1227) had scaly and regular pilei, moderately indented in the center. The diameter of the pilei ranged from 21-110 mm. The stipe length ranged from 32-80 mm and the stipe thickness ranged from 4-15 mm. The pilei color was yellowish brown (5F5) in the center and towards the margin yellowish white (3A2) based on Kornerup and Wanscher (1963).

The wild strain of *P. giganteus* (KLU-M 1391) was found growing caespitose on soil within the compounds of University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. The basidiocarps had matured and attracted insects. The pilei were regular and even, slightly depressed in the centre and the pilei surfaces were smooth with scales at the margin. The pilei margins were slightly uplifted due to over-maturation. The diameter of the pilei ranged from 35.5-85.0 mm. The stipe length ranged from 47-90 mm while the stipe thickness was 2.5-7.5 mm. The pilei color was yellowish brown (5E5) in the center and towards the margin light brown (6D6) based on the Color Handbook by Kornerup and Wanscher (1963). The lamella were pale yellowish white (2A2), subdistant spacing, decurrent with narrow breadth. The stipe ranged from 47-90 mm in length, 3-8 mm thick, color varied from greyish brown (6F3) to orange white (5A2), with solid interior and fibrous texture.

From the preliminary observation, the wild strain (KLU-M 1391) had short stipe above the ground and the pileus color was darker than that of the commercial strain (KLU-M 1227) by referring to the Color Handbook by Kornerup and Wanscher (1963). Whereas KLU-M 1227 growing in the polypropylene mushroom bag formed a long stipe coil in the space between polybag and substrate. Besides these features, no other considerable differences were noticed between the fruit bodies of these two strains- The morphological characteristics of KLU-M 1391 matched the fungal descriptions by Karunarathna *et al.*  (2011) whereby the pileus was slightly depressed in the centre with scaly surfaces, stipe length ranged from 50–90 mm, stipe thickness 7 mm and the diameter of pileus was 60-85 mm.

As environmental factors such as temperature, light intensity, carbon dioxide concentration can affect the morphological characteristics of fungi (Bao *et al.*, 2004), molecular analysis was performed to verify the strain identity. According to the NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) blast results shown in Table 4.1, both the parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 were best matched as *Pleurotus giganteus*, with expected number of chance alignments (E value) 0.0.

Parent	Name	Query	Е	Identity	Accession	Country of
		Cover(%)	value	percentage	number	origin
				(%)		
KLU-	Pleurotus	99	0.0	100	LC068800.1	Thailand
М	giganteus					(unpublished)
1227	MRNo556					
	Panus	99	0.0	99	HM245789.1	China
	giganteus P6					(unpublished)
	Panus	98	0.0	99	HM245782.1	China
	giganteus XY3					(unpublished)
	Pleurotus	100	0.0	99	KP120919.1	Thailand
	giganteus					(Karunarathna
	MFLU08-1371					<i>et al.</i> , 2011)
	Panus	98	0.0	99	HM245788.1	China
	giganteus ZZ					(unpublished)
KLU-	Pleurotus	97	0.0	98	KX018294	Malaysia
М	giganteus FRI					(Karunarathna
1391	849					et al., 2016)
	Lentinus	97	0.0	97	JN255250.1	Malaysia
	giganteus					(unpublished)
	K(M)57571					
	Pleurotus	96	0.0	98	KP012913.1	Australia
	giganteus					(unpublished)
	MEL:2382605					
	Pleurotus	96	0.0	97	LC068800.1	Thailand
	giganteus					(unpublished)
	MRNo556					

**Table 4.1:** Blast results for nucleotide sequence of KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391.Only the top ten results with the best scores are shown
## 4.2 Mating studies of *P. giganteus*

Basidiospores of the parents took 7-10 days to germinate and produce the monokaryon cultures (Figure 4.1). A total of 14 fast-growing monokaryons of KLU-M 1227 were selected to mate with 4 monokaryons isolated from the wild KLU-M 1391. To confirm the monokaryotic cultures, the mycelium was checked under compound microscope for the absence of clamp connections. In this study, 16 hybrids were obtained out of 56 combinations (Table 4.2), with a success rate of 28.6%. Clamp connections were observed as an indicator of monokaryons compatibility and dikaryon formation (Figure 4.2).

This study involved the crossing of basidiospores isolated from commercial and wild strains. This is a common breeding strategy which incorporates quantitatively inherited traits of a wild line into an existing commercial line (Sonnenberg *et al.*, 2005). The mating frequency in this study was 3.6% higher than the expected mating frequency of tetrapolar basidiomycetes reported by Giraud et al. (2008), which was 25%. However, there were studies showing higher mating frequency in tetrapolar basidiomycetes such as P. tuberregium (Fr.) Singer with 55-84% mating frequency reported by Isikhuemhen et al. (2000), 92% of mating frequency resulted by intraspecific mating of P. ostreatus reported by Kumara and Edirimanna (2009), and 26.3% of mating compatibility of *Hypsizygus* marmoreus (Peck) H.E. Bigelow reported by Lee et al. (2011b). In the taxonomic study by Stajić et al. (2005), geographical isolation was said to cause genetic differences in Pleurotus strains. Van Peer et al. (2011) also added that geographical distribution caused differences on the multi-allelic nature of mating genes. However, Isikhuemhen et al. (2000) and Lee et al. (2011a) showed that tetrapolar mating using intrastock pairings from different geographical origins could achieve high mating compatibility frequency up to 70% or more. Therefore, there is possibility that the mating frequency in this study can be improved by increasing the number of basidiospores from the parental strains.

Larsen *et al.* (1992) reported that clamp connections have become important as an *in vitro* indicator for dikaryon formation. Nuclei exchange and migration resulted in clamp cell formation (Brown & Casselton, 2001). Following nuclear division and septation, clamp cell fusion occurs and results in a sexually competent dikaryon (Brown & Casselton, 2001; Gharehaghaji *et al.*, 2007).

**Table 4.2**: Crossing between mononokaryons of *P.giganteus* (after 10 days of incubation at room temperature  $26^{\circ}\pm 2^{\circ}$ C)

KLU-M 1227	01	06	19	22	23	03	07	02	08	11	15	27	29	30
KLU-M 1391														
01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
02	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
04	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	I
08	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

+ : formation of clamp connections; - : no clamps formed.



Figure 4.1: The germinated basidiospores (in red circles) on a 7-days old PDA culture



**Figure 4.2:** Clamp connections (shown by arrows) formed by *P. giganteus*, magnification 400x

## 4.3 Radial growth study of the parents and all the hybrids of *P. giganteus*

The parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 had low radial growth rates which were  $0.40\pm0.05$  cm/day and  $0.28\pm0.01$  cm/day respectively. Both the parents took 16 to 20 days to fully colonise the 90mm PDA plates. In contrast, 68% of the hybrids fully covered the 90 mm petri dishes on day 12 of the experiment. As shown in Figure 4.3, the hybrids IH 29 and IH 32 had the highest radial growth rates, which were  $0.83\pm0.06$  cm/day and  $0.85\pm0.07$  cm/day respectively. The hybrids were grouped into slow-growing (growth rate < 0.715 cm/day) and fast-growing (growth rate  $\geq 0.715$  cm/day) based on the median (M = 0.715) (Figure 4.3). All tested hybrids grew at least 42% faster than the parents on PDA based on mid-parent heterosis calculation (Table 4.3). The parents and hybrids were similar in morphological characteristics. White, fluffy, filamentous mycelia with raised elevation was observed on the surface of the parents and hybrids on PDA plates.

Nutrient medium serves as a captive environment which provides the basic supplements for fungal growth. PDA was used as the growth medium in this study because it was reported as the best media for optimum growth of *P. giganteus* (Kumla *et al.*, 2013). Mycelium growth rate on media can be affected by temperature, pH of media and light intensity (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012). However, Singh and Kamal (2011) reported that radial mycelial growth showed significant negative correlation with mushroom morphological traits such as gill and stipe size. Thus, radial growth rate was not used as a parameter to select the best hybrid.



**Figure 4.3**: Average radial growth rate of hybrids of *P. giganteus* on PDA at  $26\pm2^{\circ}$ C. Average radial growth rate of the parent KLU-M 1227 was 0.40 cm/day and the parent KLU-M 1391 was 0.28 cm/day. Value means of 3 replicates (*p*<0.05)

Strain	Mid Parent heterosis
IH 26	42.03
IH 23	56.52
IH 37	82.61
IH 25	85.51
IH 36	85.51
IH 20	94.20
IH 27	94.20
IH 15	102.90
IH 22	111.59
IH 35	111.59
IH 30	117.39
IH 12	120.29
IH 17	120.29
IH 28	126.09
IH 29	140.58
IH 32	146.38

**Table 4.3:** Mid parent heterosis of the hybrids based on the radial growth rate

### 4.4 Linear growth study of the parents and selected hybrids of *P. giganteus*

Both parents and selected hybrids took 24 to 49 days to fully colonise the substrate in the race tubes. Among the hybrids tested, 37.5% of them formed primordia in the race tube even before the mycelium had fully colonised the substrate (Figure 4.4). As shown in Figure 4.5, the fastest-growing hybrids based on the linear growth rate were IH 15 and IH 32. Both of these hybrids had a linear growth rate at  $0.33\pm0.00$  cm/day. Whereas the parents had low linear growth rates, of  $0.18\pm0.00$  cm/day (KLU-M 1227) and  $0.19\pm0.00$  cm/day (KLU-M 1391), which were 83% and 73% lower than both IH 15 and IH 32 respectively. The hybrids were grouped as slow-growing (growth rate < 0.295 cm/day) and fast-growing (growth rate  $\geq 0.295$  cm/day) based on the median (M = 0.295) (Figure 4.5). All the tested hybrids grew at least 13% faster than the parents on the substrate based on mid-parent heterosis calculation (Table 4.4).

Linear growth study was carried out to compare the mycelial growth rate between hybrids in a substrate composition practiced in the mushroom farms in Malaysia. According to Kumara and Edirimanna (2009), the genetic differences inherited within different strains may contribute to variation in mycelium colonization rate of a medium. In this study, the hybrids showed a significant (p<0.05) difference in linear growth rates (Figure 4.5) but no variation was observed in the mycelium density on the substrate (Figure 4.6). This observation was similar to that reported by Mensah and Obodai (2014) that not all the fast-growing strains had dense mycelium growth. Furthermore, Mensah and Obodai (2014) reported that mycelia growth rate and density depend on the media used.



**Figure 4.4**: Primordia formed by hybrids: (A) IH 35 (replicate 1); (B) IH 32 (replicate 1); (C) IH 22 (replicate 1); (D) IH 22 (replicate 2); (E) IH 15 (replicate 1); (F) IH 36 (replicate 1); (G) IH 36 (replicate 2); (H) IH 30 (replicate 1); on day 26 during mycelium colonization of sawdust substrate, incubated at room temperature  $26\pm 2^{\circ}C$ 



**Figure 4.5**: Average linear growth rate of hybrids of *P. giganteus* [at  $26\pm2^{\circ}$ C in dark condition; substrate: 89% (w/w) sawdust, 10% (w/w) rice bran, 1% (w/w) calcium carbonate]. Average linear growth rate of the parent KLU-M 1227 was 0.18 cm/day and the parent KLU-M 1391 was 0.19 cm/day. Value mean of 3 replicates (p<0.05)

Strain	Mid-parent
Strain	heterosis
IH 29	13.51
IH 37	18.92
IH 23	29.73
IH 25	29.73
IH 35	40.54
IH 26	45.95
IH 27	51.35
IH 22	56.76
IH 20	62.16
IH 30	62.16
IH 36	67.57
IH 28	67.57
IH 17	72.97
IH 12	72.97
IH 32	78.38
IH 15	78.38

Table 4.4: Mid parent heterosis of the hybrids based on the linear growth rate



**Figure 4.6:** Linear growth study of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus*: (A) KLU-M 1227; (B) KLU- M 1391; (C) IH 12; (D) IH 17; (E) IH 30; (F) IH 29; (G) IH 35; (H) IH 28; (I) IH 36; (J)IH 37; on day 24 during mycelium colonization of sawdust substrate, incubated at room temperature 26±2°C)

In this study, the average radial growth rate on PDA and linear growth rate on substrate exhibited by the hybrids of *P. giganteus* did not correlate (Table 4.5). According to Singh and Kamal (2011), the radial growth rate on media cannot serve as a selection criterion for commercial mushroom cultivation as it has no significant association with the yield of mushroom. However, in contrast, the downward linear growth showed a significant relationship with the yield of mushroom (Singh & Kamal, 2011). Thus in this study, hybrids were selected based on the linear growth rate on substrate which resembles the composition of substrate used for *Pleurotus* mushrooms in most of the mushroom farms in Malaysia.

Radial growth rate (cm/day)	Linear Growth Rate (cm/day)
$0.40 \pm 0.05^{b}$	0.18±0.01 <sup>a</sup>
$0.29{\pm}0.02^{a}$	$0.19{\pm}0.01^{a}$
$0.76{\pm}0.03 f^{g}$	$0.32{\pm}0.01^{hi}$
$0.70 \pm 0.04^{def}$	0.33±0.01i
$0.76{\pm}0.04^{fg}$	$0.31{\pm}0.02^{ghi}$
$0.67 {\pm} 0.03^{de}$	$0.29{\pm}0.02^{fg}$
$0.73 \pm 0.06^{efg}$	0.29±0.01 <sup>fg</sup>
$0.54 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$	$0.24 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$
$0.64{\pm}0.04^{d}$	0.24±0.01°
$0.45 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$	0.27±0.01 <sup>de</sup>
$0.68 {\pm} 0.05^{de}$	$0.28 \pm 0.01^{ef}$
$0.79{\pm}0.02^{gh}$	$0.31 \pm 0.03^{ghi}$
$0.83 \pm 0.07^{h}$	$0.21 \pm 0.02^{b}$
$0.75{\pm}0.02^{fg}$	$0.30{\pm}0.01^{\text{fgh}}$
$0.85 \pm 0.08^{h}$	$0.33{\pm}0.02^{i}$
$0.73 \pm 0.03^{efg}$	$0.26 \pm 0.01^{cd}$
$0.65 \pm 0.03^{d}$	$0.31 {\pm} 0.02^{gh}$
$0.63 \pm 0.04^{d}$	$0.22{\pm}0.01^{b}$
	Radial growth rate $(cm/day)$ $0.40\pm0.05^{b}$ $0.29\pm0.02^{a}$ $0.76\pm0.03^{fg}$ $0.76\pm0.04^{def}$ $0.76\pm0.04^{fg}$ $0.67\pm0.03^{de}$ $0.73\pm0.06^{efg}$ $0.54\pm0.10^{c}$ $0.64\pm0.04^{d}$ $0.45\pm0.04^{c}$ $0.68\pm0.05^{de}$ $0.79\pm0.02^{gh}$ $0.83\pm0.07^{h}$ $0.75\pm0.02^{fg}$ $0.85\pm0.08^{h}$ $0.73\pm0.03^{efg}$ $0.65\pm0.03^{d}$ $0.63\pm0.04^{d}$

**Table 4.5**: The radial growth rate and linear growth rate of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* 

Values are mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of three replicates. Values in a row followed by the same letter indicate no significant difference of growth rate at *p*<0.05 level by Duncan's multiple range test.

# 4.5 Susceptibility of the parents and selected hybrids of *P. giganteus* to *T. saturnisporum*

*Trichoderma saturnisporum* is a fast-growing fungus species and it could fully colonise a 90 mm PDA plate in two days (Figure 4.7a). By comparison, control plates containing either the parent or the hybrids of *P. giganteus* fully covered the PDA plates in 5 weeks after inoculation. As such, the experiment was designed as described herein to avoid overgrowth of *T. saturnisporum* over the *P. giganteus* cultures. The *P. giganteus* cultures were cultivated on PDA plates for seven days, followed by inoculation of *Trichoderma* sp. (Lee *et al.*, 2008). A total of eight hybrids (IH 12, IH 15, IH 17, IH 20, IH 28, IH 30, IH 32, IH 36) were tested for their susceptibility towards *Trichoderma* sp. In all pairings, *T. saturnisporum* grew over the *P. giganteus* colonies on the second day after inoculation of *T. saturnisporum*. This observation was similar to the results reported by Lee *et al.* (2008). A week after inoculation of *T. saturnisporum*, 62.5% of the hybrids started to grow over the contaminant. Both of the parents and hybrids were not fully overgrown by *Trichoderma* colony during the observation period.

Deadlock occurred in 25% (n = 2) of pairings of the hybrids and *T. saturnisporum* while 37.5% (n = 3) of the hybrids were overgrown by *T. saturnisporum* (highly susceptible) on the 4<sup>th</sup> week of incubation (Table 4.6). Among the eight hybrids tested, hybrid IH 17 was the least susceptible to *T. saturnisporum* on PDA. The hybrid grew over *T. saturnisporum* and covered three quarters of the medium on the 4<sup>th</sup> week (Figure 4.7b). Further, hybrids IH 15 and IH 32 partially grew over *T. saturnisporum* on the 4<sup>th</sup> week (Figures 4.7 c & d). In contrast, both of the parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 were highly susceptible to *T. saturnisporum* (Figures 4.7 e & f). *T. saturnisporum* gradually grew over the parents throughout the observation period (1<sup>st</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> week) but did not fully colonise the parents.



**Figure 4.7:** Susceptibility of *P. giganteus* to *T. saturnisporum* (a) *T. saturnisporum* fully covered the PDA plate on  $2^{nd}$  day after inoculation; (b) IH 17; (c) IH 15; (d) IH 32; (e) KLU-M 1227. (f) KLU-M 1391. (A)  $1^{st}$  week; (B)  $4^{th}$  week and (C) Control one week after *T. saturnisporum* inoculation

Interaction	Deadlock	High susceptibility	Weak susceptibility
Strain	IH 28	IH 12	IH 15
	IH 36	IH 20	IH 17
		IH 30	IH 32

**Table 4.6:** Susceptibility of the hybrids of *P.giganteus* to *T. saturnisporum*

In this study, the susceptibility of the *P. giganteus* strains did not correlate with the linear growth rate. Some hybrids grew slower than the others but were able to grow with *T. saturnisporum*, in accordance with the study by Albert *et al.* (2011). Hybrid IH 12, though it had a higher linear growth rate than other hybrids, it was highly susceptible to *T. saturnisporum*. In contrast to hybrid IH 12, IH 36 and IH 28 had lower linear growth rate than IH 12 but were able to grow with *T. saturnisporum* (deadlock was observed). An obvious antithetic line was formed in the deadlock interaction zone. Dark green pigments with abundant conidiation of *T. saturnisporum* were observed at the interaction zone. Some studies suggested that this could be related to the production of laccase and melanin compounds as a response to the attack by antagonists (Badalyan *et al.*, 2004; Flores *et al.*, 2009; Komoń-Zelazowska *et al.*, 2007). *Trichoderma* will form lytic enzymes during antagonism with other fungus. This triggers the laccase production or laccases isoform induction of a basidiomycete, as a defensive response against the mycelial invasion (Badalyan *et al.*, 2004; Flores *et al.*, 2009).

*Trichoderma saturnisporum* colonised the media faster than *P. giganteus*. *Trichoderma* is one of the most aggressive contaminants which competes with mushroom strains for nutrients and space (Beyer *et al.*, 2000). This green mold produces dense white mycelium which turns into green in color with dense sporulation during composting (Rezaei *et al.*, 2001). The attack by green mold often occurs half way during mushroom composting in cultivation. In this study, even though all the parent and hybrid strains were overgrown by *T. saturnisporum* on the first week after the introduction of *Trichoderma* isolate, some hybrids were able to grow over the *T. saturnisporum* at the later stage (4 weeks after inoculation of *Trichoderma* isolate). So during the mushroom bag composting in mushroom farm, the improved strains may be able to compete with the contaminant, and may eventually overgrow it. Mushroom bags with serious contamination, however, are not encouraged to be retained in the mushroom house. Strain IH 17, IH 15 and IH 32

were selected to proceed with cultivation as the strains had high linear growth rate and low susceptibility towards *T. saturnisporum*.

### 4.6 Cultivation of the parents and selected hybrids

Cultivation of the parents and selected hybrids was initially carried out using the conventional method. For conventional cultivation substrate composing of 89% of sawdust, 10% of rice bran and 1% of calcium carbonate in polypropylene bags were prepared. This is a common practice in *Pleurotus* mushroom cultivation among mushroom growers in Malaysia. However in foreign countries such as Thailand and China, soil-casing method was widely applied for the cultivation of *P. giganteus* (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012; Ruan *et al.*, 2013). Thus, soil-casing method was then studied to compare the yield as well as the physiological characteristics of the mushroom. All the cultivated parents and hybrids were cased with soil one week after complete mycelium colonization of substrate. The comparisons between fruit body production using two different cultivation methods are discussed as below.

## 4.6.1 Conventional cultivation method

**Spawn running**: Time required for the completion of mycelium colonization in substrate of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* was 2 to 4 weeks (Table 4.7).

**Primordia formation**: The parent KLU-M 1391 formed primordia 2 weeks after spawn run, which was about three times faster than the hybrid IH 15 (Table 4.7).

**Fruit body production**: Long coiling stipes were formed by all the cultivated parents and hybrids in the mushroom bags using conventional cultivation method (Figure 4.8a iiii). After harvesting, the remaining stipes inside the mushroom bags attracted insects and this eventually led to bag contamination. The parents formed 1 to 2 fruit bodies whereas the hybrids formed averagely 2 to 3 fruit bodies. **Biological efficiency**: As presented in Table 4.7, all the hybrids showed at least two times higher biological efficiency compared to the parents.

Number of flush: The crop of *P. giganteus* was harvested in 1 to 2 flushes.

### 4.6.2 Soil-casing cultivation method

**Spawn running**: Similar to the results of conventional cultivation method, spawn run of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* was 2 to 4 weeks after inoculation.

**Primordia formation**: The parent KLU-M 1227 was the fastest to show primordia compared to the other parent and hybrids. It took 7 days to form primordia after soil-casing, which was about three times faster than the hybrid IH 17.

**Fruit body production**: The soil-casing cultivation method had prevented the formation of the long coiling stipe problem formed by the fruit body of *P. giganteus*. All cultivated parents and hybrids formed short stipes using soil-casing method (Figure 4.8b). The parents formed on average 3 to 6 fruit bodies whereas the hybrids formed around 4 to 11 fruit bodies.

**Biological efficiency**: The parent KLU-M 1227 showed the lowest biological efficiency, which was only 10%. However, the parent KLU-M 1391 had the second highest biological efficiency compared to all other cultivated parent and hybrids. The biological efficiency of the hybrids ranged from 38-42% (Table 4.7).

Number of flush: All the cultivated parents and hybrids formed 2 flushes on average.

For both cultivation methods, there was no distinct variation among the parents and hybrids in terms of morphological characteristics such as the color of fruit body and pileus margin (Figure 4.9). For all cultivated strains, the pilei were regular and even, slightly depressed and the pilei surfaces were smooth with scales at the margin. The pilei margins

were slightly uplifted when the mushrooms were over-matured. The pilei color was ranged from yellowish brown (5E5) to dark brown (6F7) in the center, towards the margin yellowish white (4A2) to light brown (6D6). The lamella were pale yellowish white (2A2), subdistant spacing, decurrent with narrow breadth. The stipe ranged from 47-90mm in length, 3-8mm thick, color varied from greyish brown (6F3) to orange white (5A2), with solid interior and fibrous texture. Color descriptions were based on Kornerup and Wanscher (1963). The morphological characteristics of all the cultivated parents and hybrids matched the descriptions by Karunarathna *et al.* (2011).

Obvious differences were observed in the physiological characteristics of fruit bodies produced using conventional cultivation method and soil-casing method. Overall, the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* with soil-casing took shorter time for primordia formation and formed higher number of fruit body, higher biological efficiency as well as higher number of flush compared to the fruit body production using conventional cultivation method.

A major problem encountered throughout the period of cultivation in this study, whether the conventional or soil-casing method was applied, was that the parent KLU-M 1227 only formed primordia after an average of 18 days which remained as primordia and failed to mature as a pileus. The primordia were subsequently contaminated by green mold a month later (Figure 4.9b). However, the parent KLU-M 1227 was able to differentiate into a relatively small but deformed pileus (Figure 4.9 c & d) when the room temperature ranged from 23-32°C and humidity ranged from 27-99%. Whereas when the room temperature was within the range of 22-35°C and humidity ranged from 18-99%, none of the primordia of the parent KLU-M 1227 formed pileus. Among the parents and selected hybrids, the parent KLU-M 1227 was the only one with retarded development of mushroom pilei. It was reported that factors such as inadequate light and ventilation, chemical vapours and overheated substrate during spawn run might lead to malformed

fruit bodies (Royse, 2003). The abnormal maturation of the parent KLU-M 1227 in this study could be related to the high sensitivity of the strain and also due to high temperatures in the mushroom house with no environment control facilities. This happens quite often in tropical countries. Apart from that, this strain being a commercial strain may have degenerated, caused by genetic alteration and/or changes in environmental conditions.

During the incubation period, though the mushroom house had two humidifiers, due to the distinct changes in the external environmental conditions, the temperature of the mushroom house varied from 23-38°C while the humidity ranged from 14-99%. The dramatic climate change resulted in a long period of "mushroom hibernation" as the primordia were not formed in the conventional method without casing layer. In contrast, substrate cased with soil layer showed shorter period for primordia emergence even under such inconsistent circumstances.

In this study, the soil was sterilised before it was used as casing layer. Cho *et al.* (2008) reported that in comparison to sterilised casing layer, non-sterilised casing layer contains more microorganisms which may help to promote the formation of fruit bodies. However, in Malaysia, the tropical climate with high humidity favours the growth of contaminants such as *Trichoderma* sp. Thus, non-sterilised casing layer may be a suitable habitat for unwanted microorganisms. This should be taken into considerations for the study of cultivation method using soil casing layer. The pH value of the soil used in this study was pH 5. Mycelium started to colonise the soil layer 2 days after the substrate was cased, in accordance with the study by Klomklung *et al.* (2014) and Kumla *et al.* (2013), who reported that the best mycelial colonization and density of *P. giganteus* was observed at pH 5-7.

Soil layer functioned as a medium for humidity retention and helped to maintain the humidity which promotes the growth of the fungal strain (Van Gerwen, 2006). Van Gerwen (2006) reported that the casing soil serves as a room for gaseous and water exchange from the compost through evaporation. The casing layer does not function as nutrient sources for the mushroom but it provides spaces for the transition of mushroom from vegetative to reproductive stage (Gülser & Pekşen, 2003).

The cultivation method using soil casing showed that the soil layer promoted the growth of primordium in the substrate in a shorter period, in agreement with previous reports that indicated that soil casing helped in improving the growth of *Pleurotus* mushrooms (Cho *et al.*, 2008; Kumla *et al.*, 2013) and promoting primordial production of mushroom (Kumla *et al.*, 2013). In China and Thailand, *P. giganteus* is cultivated using soil-casing method, which is said to be important for the fruiting stage to promote better yield (Klomklung *et al.*, 2012; Ruan *et al.*, 2013). Since soil-casing cultivation performed better results in all aspects such as biological efficiency and total number of flushes, this method was carried out for all the parents and hybrids with ten replicates each and for three generations.

Strain	Numbo days spav comple	Number of days for spawn completion		r of show dia	No. of bodie	fruit es	Biolog efficier	ical ncy	Total no flushe	o. of es
	С	SC	С	SC	С	SC	С	SC	С	SC
KLU-M	$26.3\pm$	28.0±	$28.3\pm$	7.3±	1.6±	$3.0\pm$	11.8±	10.1±	1.0±	2.3±
1227	1.6°	0.0 <sup>c</sup>	8.3 <sup>abc</sup>	1.3ª	0.3ª	1.0 <sup>ab</sup>	1.8 <sup>ab</sup>	1.2 <sup>ab</sup>	$0.0^{ab}$	0.3°
KLU-M	$24.0\pm$	23.0±	15.6±	12.0±	0.6±	$6.0\pm$	$5.9\pm$	$40.4\pm$	$0.3\pm$	2.0±
1391	1.0 <sup>bc</sup>	$0.0^{bc}$	15.6 <sup>abc</sup>	$2.0^{abc}$	0.6 <sup>a</sup>	0.5 <sup>b</sup>	5.9ª	1.8°	0.3ª	0.0 <sup>c</sup>
IH 15	$16.0\pm$	16.0±	47.3±	$19.0\pm$	1.6±	3.6±	28.1±	41.5±	1.0±	$2.0\pm$
	1.5ª	1.5ª	6.6 <sup>c</sup>	1.7 <sup>abc</sup>	0.6ª	1.6 <sup>ab</sup>	2.8°	1.9°	0.0 <sup>ab</sup>	0.0°
IH 17	$18.3\pm$	16.3±	$46.0\pm$	$20.3\pm$	2.1±	$4.0\pm$	24.3±	37.9±	1.0±	$2.0\pm$
	0.3 <sup>ab</sup>	0.3ª	23.1 <sup>bc</sup>	4.9 <sup>abc</sup>	1.4 <sup>ab</sup>	1.0 <sup>ab</sup>	12.8 <sup>bc</sup>	2.9°	0.5 <sup>ab</sup>	0.0°
IH 32	16.0±	14.0±	26.6±	$10.0\pm$	2.8±	11.0±	36.2±	39.8±	1.6±	2.0±
	5.0 <sup>a</sup>	0.0 <sup>a</sup>	15.2 <sup>abc</sup>	$0.0^{ab}$	0.7 <sup>ab</sup>	2.4°	6.5°	0.6°	0.3 <sup>bc</sup>	0.0 <sup>c</sup>

**Table 4.7:** Fruit body production of *P. giganteus* using conventional (C) and soil-casing (SC) cultivation methods

Values are mean  $\pm$  standard error of three replicates. Values in a row followed by different letters indicate significant differences by Duncan's multiple range test (p < 0.05)



**Figure 4.8:** Fruit bodies of the cultivated *P. giganteus.* (a) Conventional cultivation method: a(i) long stipe formed at the bottom of mushroom bag; a(ii) long coiling stipe formed in the mushroom bag; a(iii) long stipe formed by fruit bodies; (b) absence of long stipe using in soil-casing cultivation method



**Figure 4.9:** Fruit bodies of the cultivated *P. giganteus* parents and hybrids in soilcasing cultivation; (a - d) The parent KLU-M 1227 had undeveloped primordia and deformed caps; (e) KLU-M 1391; (f) IH 15; (g) IH 17; (h) IH 32

## 4.6.3 Cultivation of the parents and hybrids of *P. giganteus* using soil-casing cultivation method

First generation: As shown in Table 4.8, both the parent strains took 24 to 27 days for spawn run completion. Whereas the hybrids took 2 weeks to fully colonize the substrate in mushroom bags. The parent KLU-M 1227 was the fastest to show primordia formation among all the parents and hybrids. The primordia formation of KLU-M 1227 was three times faster than that of IH 17. The parent KLU-M 1227 formed the lowest number of fruit bodies  $(1.1\pm0.5)$  among all the parents and hybrids. Whereas IH 32 formed the highest number of fruit bodies, which was ten times higher than that of KLU-M 1227. The parents and hybrids had an average of 1 to 2 flushes. Due to the retarded growth, KLU-M 1227 formed the smallest pileus (1.0±0.4cm) among all the cultivated strains and hybrids of P. giganteus. The pileus size of IH 15 (7.2 $\pm$ 0.4) and IH 17 (7.2 $\pm$ 0.3) was seven times larger than that of KLU-M 1227. The stipe thickness of all the parents and hybrids ranged from 0.5 to 0.9cm, whereas the stipe length ranged from 2.8cm to 6.4cm. During the fruiting period of the F1 generation (temperature was 23-35.4°C and humidity was 39-99%), all hybrids fruited except that 60% of the parent KLU-M 1227 and 10% of the parent KLU-M 1391 did not fruit. The biological efficiency of the parent KLU-M 1227 was the lowest (3.73%) among all parents and hybrids tested (Figure 4.10). Whereas the hybrid IH 15 had the highest biological efficiency, which was eleven times higher than that of the commercial strain KLU-M 1227.

**Second generation**: All the parents and hybrids showed no considerable difference in the number of days for spawn run completion which were from 17 to 19 days (Table 4.8). The hybrid IH 32 formed primordia one week after soil-casing, which was about three times faster than both the parents and also the hybrid IH 15, but eight times faster than the hybrid IH 17. The parent KLU-M 1227 and the hybrid IH 15 formed an average of two fruit bodies during F2 generation. Hybrid IH 32 formed the highest number of fruit

bodies (5.4 $\pm$ 0.8) among all the parents and hybrids. The parents and hybrids had an average of two flushes. IH 17 formed the largest pileus (10.3 $\pm$ 2.4cm) among all the cultivated parents and hybrids, which was around three times of the pileus size of the parent KLU-M 1227. Despite of the small pileus size, KLU-M 1227 had the thickest stipe (2.3 $\pm$ 0.8cm), which was two times thicker than that of other parent and hybrids. On the other hand, KLU-M 1227 also formed the longest stipe (7.7 $\pm$ 1.0cm) among all the cultivated parents and hybrids. During the F2 generation (temperature was 20-38°C and humidity was 14-99%), all parents and hybrids fruited except 20% of the hybrid IH 15. Biological efficiency of IH 32 was the highest among all the hybrids (56.79%), which was four times higher than that of KLU-M 1227 (Figure 4.10).

**Third generation**: The parent KLU-M 1391 took the shortest time for spawn run completion among all the cultivated strains and hybrids of *P. giganteus* (Table 4.8). Whereas the parent KLU-M 1227 was the slowest to complete spawn run in 25 days in the mushroom bags. All the hybrids took around three weeks for spawn run completion. IH 32 was the fastest among all the hybrids tested to show primordia formation after soil-casing. It took about 20 days for primordia formation, which was 55% faster than that of IH 15 and IH 17. Both the parents tested formed only two fruit bodies in this generation. Whereas the number of fruit bodies formed by the hybrids ranged from two to five. The parents and hybrids gave an average of two to three flushes. IH 15 formed the largest pileus (8.4±0.6cm) among all the cultivated parents and hybrids, which was about four times larger than that of KLU-M 1227. All the parents and hybrids formed similar stipe thickness in this generation, ranging from 0.7 to 0.9cm. KLU-M 1227 and IH 15 formed the longest stipes among all the cultivated *P. giganteus*, which were 7.2±0.3cm and 7.7±0.5cm respectively. During the F3 generation (temperature was 21.5-35.7°C and humidity was 14-99%), all the parents and hybrids fruited. IH 32 showed the highest

biological efficiency (47.12%) among all the hybrids, and it was about six times higher

than that of the parent KLU-M 1227 (Figure 4.10).

Strain	Generation	No. of days for spawn run	No. of days for primordia formation*	No. of fruit bodies	Total no. of flush	Pileus size (cm)	Stipe thickness (cm)	Stipe length (cm)
KLU- M	1	23.7± 1.2 <sup>b</sup>	7.9± 1.3ª	1.1± 0.5ª	1.4± 0.2ª	1.0± 0.4ª	0.5± 0.2ª	2.8± 1.2ª
1227	2	19.1± 0.8ª	19.8± 5.9ª	2.0± 0.2ª	1.7± 0.1ª	2.8± 0.1 <sup>b</sup>	2.3± 0.8 <sup>b</sup>	7.7± 1.0 <sup>b</sup>
	3	25.2± 1.7 <sup>b</sup>	13.3± 3.7ª	2.0± 0.2ª	1.9± 0.1ª	1.9± 0.3 <sup>ab</sup>	0.9± 0.1 <sup>ab</sup>	7.2± 0.3 <sup>b</sup>
KLU- M	1	26.8± 0.9 <sup>b</sup>	15.0± 4.1 <sup>a</sup>	4.0± 0.7 <sup>b</sup>	1.5± 0.2ª	5.4± 0.8ª	0.8± 0.1 <sup>a</sup>	4.5± 0.5 <sup>a</sup>
1371	2	17.9± 0.3ª	21.1± 2.7 <sup>ab</sup>	3.8± 0.5 <sup>b</sup>	$2.1\pm$ $0.2^{ab}$	7.6± 0.4 <sup>b</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8\pm\ 0.0^{a} \end{array}$	5.9± 0.2 <sup>b</sup>
	3	18.5± 1.3ª	32.7± 6.1 <sup>b</sup>	1.8± 0.1ª	$2.7\pm 0.2^{b}$	7.2± 0.3 <sup>b</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \pm \\ 0.0^{a} \end{array}$	6.4± 0.1 <sup>b</sup>
IH 15	1	16.5± 0.4 <sup>a</sup>	17.2± 1.3 <sup>a</sup>	$5.5\pm$ $0.8^{\mathrm{b}}$	1.9± 0.1ª	7.2± 0.4ª	$\begin{array}{c} 0.8 \pm \\ 0.0^{a} \end{array}$	6.4± 0.3ª
	2	19.7± 0.5 <sup>b</sup>	$20.4\pm 3.6^{a}$	2.0± 0.4ª	2.0± 0.3ª	6.6± 1.2ª	0.8± 0.1ª	5.8± 0.9ª
	3	20.3± 0.9 <sup>b</sup>	45.6± 3.4 <sup>b</sup>	1.9± 0.2ª	2.0± 0.1ª	8.4± 0.6ª	0.9± 0.0ª	7.7± 0.5ª
IH 17	1	16.7± 0.3ª	25.8± 5.4 <sup>a</sup>	4.4± 0.7ª	1.8± 0.1ª	7.2± 0.3ª	0.9± 0.0 <sup>b</sup>	6.0± 0.2ª
	2	17.4±. 1.1ª	59.3± 4.5°	$3.6\pm$ 0.4 <sup>a</sup>	1.7± 0.1ª	10.3± 2.4ª	1.0± 0.0 <sup>b</sup>	5.4± 0.1 <sup>a</sup>
	3	21.6± 1.3 <sup>b</sup>	45.6± 3.7 <sup>b</sup>	2.8± 0.2ª	1.8± 0.2ª	6.6± 0.3ª	0.8± 0.0ª	5.9± 0.3ª
IH 32	1	14.9± 0.5 <sup>a</sup>	10.0± 0.4 <sup>a</sup>	10.3± 1.2 <sup>b</sup>	2.0± 0.0ª	5.3± 0.3ª	$0.7 \pm 0.0^{a}$	5.1± 0.1ª
	2	17.2± 1.1ª	6.9± 1.1ª	5.4± 0.8ª	2.4± 0.1ª	7.1± 0.5 <sup>b</sup>	$0.9 \pm 0.0^{b}$	6.1± 0.2 <sup>b</sup>
	3	23.9± 1.8 <sup>b</sup>	20.5± 4.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.7± 1.0ª	2.4± 0.2ª	6.9± 0.2 <sup>b</sup>	0.7± 0.0ª	6.3± 0.3 <sup>b</sup>

**Table 4.8:** Comparison of the fruit body production of the parents and hybrids in three generations

\*After spawn run. Values are mean  $\pm$  standard error of ten replicates. Values in a row followed by different letters indicate significant differences by Duncan's multiple range test (p<0.05).



**Figure 4.10:** Biological efficiency (%) of the parents and selected hybrids of three generations (F1-F3)

Generally, all the cultivated parents and hybrids took a longer period for spawn run completion compared to the first and second generations except for the parent KLU-M 1391. However, all the cultivated parents and hybrids produced the highest number of flushes in the F3 generation (Table 4.8). Both the parents and hybrids took a longer period for primordia formation during the second generation except for IH 32. The average measurements for fruit body production and measurements of all the cultivated *P*. *giganteus* are presented in Table 4.9 and 4.10.

All the hybrids took an average of 18 days for spawn run completion, which was 12% and 18% faster than KLU-M 1391 and KLU-M 1227 respectively (Table 4.9). Variability in time to form primordia was observed among the strains. Among the hybrids, IH 32 was the fastest to fruit, which was significantly (p<0.05) different from the other hybrids

tested. Primordia of hybrid IH 32 grew after an average of 12.4 $\pm$ 4.1 days after the bag was opened. Whereas IH 15 and IH 17 took a longer period for primordia formation compared to both of the parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391. The parent KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 took only 13.7 $\pm$ 3.4 days and 22.9 $\pm$ 5.1 days respectively for primordia formation after spawn run was completed and the bags were opened. However, the hybrid IH 15 and IH 17 took 27.7 $\pm$ 8.9 days and 43.5 $\pm$ 9.7 days respectively to form primordia after the bag were opened. This study was similar to the previous study by Kumla *et al.* (2013) who reported the primordia formation of *P. giganteus* was after two weeks of spawn run/incubation. However, in this study, the cultivated *P. giganteus* parents and hybrids only took 3-5 days for the primordia to develop into matured fruit body. This result is different from the study by Kumla *et al.* (2013) who reported that the maturation of fruit bodies of wild *P. giganteus* took 10-15 days.

Hybrid IH 32 produced the highest number of fruit bodies compared to parents and hybrids in all three generations investigated. The average number of fruit bodies formed by IH 32 ( $6.8\pm1.7$ ) was about four times that of the parent KLU-M 1227 ( $1.7\pm0.3$ ) and two times that of the parent KLU-M 1391 ( $3.2\pm0.7$ ). All the parents and hybrids produced an average of 1 to 2 flushes in the three generations.

The pileus size of the cultivated mushrooms negatively correlated with the number of fruit bodies formed whereby the mushroom bags with higher number of fruit bodies formed smaller pileus. Even though hybrid IH 32 had the highest number of fruit body formed during the cultivation, but its pileus size  $(6.5\pm0.5\text{cm})$  was relatively small when compared to the other hybrids. The average pileus size of the cultivated strains was 6-8cm, except for parent KLU-M 1227 which showed retarded growth with an average of  $1.9\pm0.5$  cm for pileus size (Table 4.10). However, fruit bodies of KLU-M 1227 had the highest stipe thickness ( $1.2\pm0.5$ cm) among all the cultivated parents and hybrids despite its retarded pileus development.

The hybrid IH 32 had the highest biological efficiency among all the cultivated parents and hybrids throughout all three generations with a mean value of 48.07%. When comparing the fruit body production within the three generations, the mushroom yield and biological efficiency during F2 generation were generally higher (Figure 4.10). The highest biological efficiency of Hybrid IH 32 was 56.79±11.98 (%) during F2 generation. The biological efficiency of IH 32 during the F2 generation was about 335% higher than the parent KLU-M 1227 and 14% higher than the parent KLU-M 1391. On the other hand, although the other hybrids generally showed lower yield than the parent KLU-M 1391, all the hybrids had remarkably higher biological efficiency (at least four-fold higher) than the parent KLU-M 1227. This study is in contradiction to Cai (2013) and Dong *et al.* (2010) which stated that the optimum temperature for fruit body formation of *P. giganteus* is 23-32°C. Even though the temperature of the mushroom house reached the maximum of 38°C during the F2 generation, the mushroom yield was the highest during this period.

Further, KLU-M 1227 showed the least biological efficiency due to its retarded growth. This parent had a BE of  $3.73\pm1.58$  (%)-during the F1 generation. The mean value of the biological efficiency of the hybrids in this study ranged from 34.4-48.07%. However, the hybrid with the best yield (IH 32) performed 479.66% and 32.35% higher in biological efficiency respectively when compared to the parent KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391.

Biological efficiency, defined as the percentage conversion of the medium into a more usable form, which is the fruit bodies on a dry weight basis (Bisaria *et al.*, 1987; Kumara & Edirimanna, 2009). Biological efficiency is an indication of the yield potential of a strain from a medium. In this study, hybrid IH 32 showed the highest biological efficiency among the cultivated strains. So, this hybrid had the highest capability to utilize the saw dust based medium compared to the other cultivated strains tested in this study. The mean value of the biological efficiency of the hybrids in this study ranged from 34.4-48.07%, which was considered low if compared to the previous studies of *Pleurotus ostreatus* 

hybrid with biological efficiency 34.10-54.10% (Kumara & Edirimanna, 2009), and also the study by Valencia del Toro and Leal-Lara (2002) who obtained a 40-73% of biological efficiency of *Pleurotus* hybrids, but considered high if compared to the study by Avin *et al.* (2016) which obtained hybrid of *P. pulmonarius* with biological efficiency 15-26%.

Cultivation is the most important stage to evaluate if the breeding study had produced improved hybrids that gave better yield and morphological characteristics such as larger pilei and better taste (Rebeca *et al.*, 2011). Formation of fruit body confirmed that there was a cross of the monokaryons isolated from both parents. In this study, an improved hybrid IH 32 had been produced as it showed higher biological efficiency (40.31-56.79%), number of fruit body (4.7-10.3) and total number of flush (2 flushes) ,as well as shorter period for spawn run completion (15-24 days) and primordia formation (7-21 days) in comparison to both of the parents.

Strain	No. of days for spawn completion	No. of days for primordia formation	No. of fruit body	Total no. of flush
KLU-M 1227	22.6±1.8 <sup>a</sup>	13.7±3.4ª	1.7±0.3ª	1.6±0.1ª
KLU-M 1391	21.0±2.8ª	22.9±5.1 <sup>ab</sup>	3.2±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	2.1±0.3 <sup>a</sup>
IH 15	18.8±1.1 <sup>a</sup>	27.7±8.9 <sup>ab</sup>	3.1±1.1 <sup>a</sup>	1.9±0.0 <sup>a</sup>
IH 17	18.5±1.5 <sup>a</sup>	43.5±9.7 <sup>b</sup>	3.6±0.4 <sup>ab</sup>	1.7±0.0 <sup>a</sup>
IH 32	18.6±2.6 <sup>a</sup>	12.4±4.1ª	6.8±1.7 <sup>b</sup>	2.2±0.1ª

**Table 4.9:** Fruit body production of the parents and selected hybrids (of 30 replicates for each strain) in three generations

Values are mean  $\pm$  standard error of ten replicates. Values in a row followed by different letters indicate significant differences by Duncan's multiple range test (p < 0.05)

Strain	Pileus size (cm)	Stipe thickness (cm)	Stipe length (cm)
KLU-M 1227	1.9±0.5ª	1.2±0.5 <sup>a</sup>	5.9±1.5ª
KLU-M 1391	$6.7 \pm 0.6^{b}$	$0.8{\pm}0.0^{a}$	5.6±0.5ª
IH 15	$7.4 \pm 0.5^{b}$	$0.8{\pm}0.0^{a}$	6.6±0.5 <sup>a</sup>
IH 17	$8.0 \pm 1.1^{b}$	$0.9{\pm}0.0^{a}$	5.8±0.1ª
IH 32	6.5±0.5 <sup>b</sup>	$0.8{\pm}0.0^{a}$	5.8±0.3ª

**Table 4.10:** Fruit body measurements of the parents and selected hybrids (of 30 replicates for each strain) in three generations of cultivation

Values are mean  $\pm$  standard error of ten replicates. Values in a row followed by different letters indicate significant differences by Duncan's multiple range test (p<0.05)

## 4.7 Nutritional analysis of the parents and selected hybrid

### 4.7.1 Nutrient content

The approximate nutrients content of dried *P. giganteus* (g/100g) is shown in Table 4.11. The hybrid IH 32 contained 68g/100g of carbohydrate, which was 1.17% and 9.55% higher than that of both the parents KLU-M 1227 and KLU-M 1391 respectively. The parent KLU-M 1227 presented the highest content of calories and dietary fiber but the lowest amount of total fats when compared to KLU-M 1391 and IH 32. KLU-M 1227 had 364 Kcal of calories (in 100g dried matter) but it contained a very low amount of total fat in comparison to KLU-M 1391 and IH 32, which was 3.7g/100g. The total fat of KLU-M 1391 was 58% higher than the parent KLU-M 1227 and 28% higher than the hybrid IH 32 (Table 4.11). The total fat content of *P. giganteus* in this study was relatively low as compared to the carbohydrate and protein content (Wani *et al.*, 2010). According to Wani *et al.* (2010), fats in all mushroom fruit body was mainly comprised of unsaturated fatty acids.

The dietary fiber of KLU-M 1227 was 10.64% higher than KLU-M 1391 and 18.14% higher than IH 32. Both the parents and also hybrid IH 32 of *P. giganteus* in this study

contained ample amount of dietary fiber in accordance with the recommended daily intake adapted from the National Health and Medical Research Council (2017), which ranged from 25-30g daily intake for both male and female. On the other hand, mushroom fiber was also reported to have cholesterol-lowering effects (Fukushima *et al.*, 2001).

The parents and selected hybrid of *P. giganteus* in this study exerted higher content of carbohydrate in comparison to other *Pleurotus* mushrooms reported by Alam *et al.* (2008).  $\beta$ -glucans, the naturally occurring carbohydrate polymer in mushrooms are known to have anti-cancer, anti-oxidant and neuroprotective properties (Valverde *et al.*, 2015). Polysaccharides extract of *P. pulmonarius* was reported to have direct impact on colon cancer cell viability and progression (Lavi *et al.*, 2010). In this study, the hybrid IH 32 might perform better than the parents in terms of the medicinal value since it had higher content of  $\beta$ -glucans.

The wild strain of *P. giganteus* (KLU-M 1391) contained the highest amount of protein (17g/100g) and total fat (8.9g/100g) compared to the parent KLU-M 1227 and hybrid IH 32. The protein content of both the parents and the hybrid IH 32 was three times lower than that of RDI by National Health and Medical Research Council (2017). The protein content of *P. giganteus* in this study was ranged from 15.4-17.0g in 100g dried matter, which was relatively lower than that of other oyster mushrooms reported by Akyuz and Kirbag (2010), Alam *et al.* (2008) and Chang *et al.* (1981) in which the protein content of *P. giganteus* in this study was slightly higher than that of *P. tuber-regium* (13-17g/100g) as reported by Fasidi and Ekuere (1993). The protein composition of mushrooms can be varied according to chemical composition of substrates (Chang *et al.*, 1981; Nunes *et al.*, 2012), pileus size, harvest time and mushroom species (Bernaś *et al.*, 2006).

Parameter	KLU-M	KLU-M	IH 32	RDI	
	1227*	1391		Male	Female
Carbohydrate	67.20	61.50	68.00	NA	NA
Calories/Energy (kcal)	364.00	335.00	340.00	2440-2460**	2000- 2180**
Cholesterol	ND	ND	ND	NA	NA
Dietary Fiber	33.35	29.80	27.30	30***	25***
Protein	15.40	17.00	16.30	62**	55**
Total Fat	3.70	8.90	6.40	NA	NA
Saturated fat	0.97	2.30	1.60	NA	NA
Monounsaturated fat	1.97	5.20	3.60	NA	NA
Polyunsaturated fat	0.78	1.40	1.20	NA	NA
Trans fat	ND	ND	ND	NA	NA

**Table 4.11:** Nutrients in freeze-dried mushrooms (g/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old

\*Phan et al. (2014).

\*\*National Coordinating Committee on Food and Nutrition (2005).

\*\*\*National Health and Medical Research Council (2017).

RDI: Reference Daily Intakes ND: not detected.

NA: not available

## 4.7.2 Mineral content

The mineral content of the parents and selected hybrid of *P. giganteus* is shown in Table 4.12. The highest content of potassium was in IH 32 (2216.1 mg/100g) whereas the lowest amount presented in KLU-M 1227 (1346 mg/100g). The potassium level of the hybrid IH 32 is high and close to the RDI for female aged 19-50 years old recommended by the National Health and Medical Research Council 2017 (2800-3800mg/day). Phosphorus level was similar for both the parents (527.0 - 578.9 mg/100g) but relatively high in hybrid IH 32 (780.9 mg/100g). Magnesium content of the mushrooms studied was ranged from 67.0 mg/100g to 96.1 mg/100g. Calcium level was the highest in KLU-M 1391 (145.9 mg/100g), which was 8-fold higher than that of IH 32 and 25-fold higher

than that of KLU-M 1227. Sodium level was similar for KLU-M 1391 and IH 32 and was about 72% higher than that of KLU-M 1227. However, KLU-M 1227 showed a higher amount of manganese, which was 85% higher than that of KLU-M 1391 and 82% higher than that of IH 32. KLU-M 1391 contained the highest amount of iron, which was two fold higher than that of IH 32 and 3.5-fold higher than that of KLU-M 1227 (Table 4.12). The mushrooms studied had a similar amount of zinc, ranged from 2.6 to 2.7 mg/100g. Copper level was low in the domesticated strain KLU-M 1227 (0.06 mg/100g) but higher in the wild strain KLU-M 1391 (0.5 mg/100g) and hybrid IH 32 (0.7 mg/100g).

Edible mushrooms are rich in minerals which are good for human health. Bernaś et al. (2006) stated that mushroom pileus usually contain more minerals than stipe. According to Chang et al. (1981), mineral content of mushroom vary according to types of substrate used. The sodium level of mushrooms studied was ranged from 5.8 to 21.7 mg/100g, which was considerably low compared to the sodium level of recommended RDI by the National Health and Medical Research Council 2017 and also sodium level contained in P. ostreatus and P. sajor-caju reported by Akyuz and Kirbag (2010). The low sodium level of mushrooms was said to be beneficial to human health as mushrooms with high concentration of sodium might have an impact on the K/Na pumps of cell membranes and have harmful effects on patients with high blood pressure (Vetter, 2003). Akyuz and Kirbag (2010) also added that mushroom can serve as an anti-hypertensive diet for its low level of sodium but high level of potassium. Since both the parents and the hybrid in this study had low level of sodium and high level of potassium compared to the RDI reported by the National Health and Medical Research Council (2017), these strains can serve as a good choice of food for hypertension patients. Magnesium content of P. giganteus in this study was similar to that reported earlier (Akyuz & Kirbag, 2010). However, calcium and iron content of mushrooms in this study were relatively low when compared to the previous study by Akyuz and Kirbag (2010) and Alam et al. (2008).

Parameter	KLU-M	KLU-M	IH 32	RDI**	
	1227*	1391		Male	Female
Potassium	1346.00	2070.40	2216.10	3800.0	2800.0
Phosphorus	527.00	578.90	780.90	1000.0	1000.0
Magnesium	67.00	84.40	96.10	400.0-420.0	310.0-320.0
Calcium	5.80	145.90	18.10	1000.0	1000.0
Sodium	5.80	21.30	21.70	460.0-920.0	460.0-920.0
Manganese	4.10	0.60	0.70	5.5	5.0
Iron	1.90	6.70	3.90	8.0	18.0
Zinc	2.70	2.60	2.60	14.0	8
Copper	0.06	0.50	0.70	1.7	1.2
Selenium	ND	ND	ND	70000.0	60000.0
*Phan et al. (2014).					

**Table 4.12:** Minerals of freeze-dried mushrooms (mg/100g) and Reference Daily Intake(RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old

\*\*National Health and Medical Research Council (2017).

RDI: Reference Daily Intakes

ND: not detected.

## 4.7.3 Lipid content

Lipid content of the tested strains is shown in Table 4.13. Generally, the commercial strain KLU-M 1227 had the lowest percentage of all the fatty acids among the three tested strains. The palmitic acid content of KLU-M 1391 and IH 32 was similar, and was about 97% more than that of KLU-M 1227. Palmitoleic acid level of the mushrooms tested was about the same level, ranged from 0.01 to 0.30%. Whereas the stearic acid level of KLU-M 1391 and IH 32 was 98% higher than that of KLU-M 1227. The domesticated strain KLU-M 1227 had only 0.1% of oleic acid, which was 99.8% lower than that of the wild strain KLU-M 1391 and the hybrid IH 32. Linoleic acid content was ranged from 0.50-19.50% in the parents and hybrid. Out of the three tested strains, only the wild strain KLU-M 1391 contained a small amount of  $\alpha$ -Linolenic acid (0.2%). Arachidic acid content was 0.6% in KLU-M 1391 and 0.4% in IH 32 but was not detectable in KLU-M 1227 (Table 4.13).

Lipids serve as the source of metabolic energy for digestion process in human body (Ribeiro *et al.*, 2009). The unsaturated fatty acid, oleic acid dominates the lipid content of the parent KLU-M 1391 and hybrid IH 32. Oleic acid is categorised under omega-9 family and is reported to reduce cholesterol (Tomás *et al.*, 2001).

Linoleic acid and  $\alpha$ -Linolenic acid are two essential fatty acids for humans but their uptake can only be from food sources. The content of linoleic acid in this study is relatively low in comparison to other oyster mushrooms like *P. ostreatus* and *P. eryngii* (Reis *et al.*, 2012). Both the reported *P. ostreatus* and *P. eryngii* contained 69% of linoleic acid, which is greatly different from that of the tested strains in this study. However, both the oyster mushrooms analysed by Reis *et al.* (2012) had a similar percentage of  $\alpha$ -Linolenic acid with the wild strain KLU-M 1391. Even though linoleic acid was said to reduce cardiovascular diseases (Zhao *et al.*, 2004), but the replacement of saturated fats with linoleic acid was said to increase death risk of cardiovascular disease and coronary heart disease (Ramsden *et al.*, 2013). The predominant saturated acid in the tested strains was palmitic acid, which was similar to the study by Khan and Tania (2012) and Phan *et al.* (2014), in which palmitic acid was the major fatty acid constituent of glycolipids and phospholipids in *P. florida* (Khan & Tania, 2012) and *P. giganteus* (Phan *et al.*, 2014).

Parameter	KLU-M	KLU-M	IH 32	RD	)[**
	1227*	1391		Male	Female
Palmitic acid (C16:0)	0.38	17.60	17.50	NA	NA
Palmitoleic acid (C16:1)	0.01	0.20	0.30	NA	NA
Stearic acid (C18:0)	0.11	7.90	7.10	NA	NA
Oleic acid (C18:1C)	0.10	58.20	55.20	NA	NA
Linoleic acid (C18:2C)	0.50	15.30	19.50	13.0g	8.0g
α-Linolenic acid (C18:3N3)	ND	0.2	ND	NA	NA
Arachidic acid (C20:0)	ND	0.60	0.40	1.3g	0.8g

**Table 4.13:** Fatty acids composition of freeze-dried mushrooms (%) and Reference DailyIntake (RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old

\*Phan et al. (2014).

\*\*National Health and Medical Research Council (2017).

RDI: Reference Daily Intakes

ND: not detected.

NA: not available.

### 4.7.4 Vitamin content

Vitamin content of the cultivated mushrooms is presented in Table 4.14. Vitamin C was only detectable in a little amount in the domesticated strain KLU-M 1227 and not detected in the wild parent KLU-M 1391 and hybrid IH 32. Vitamin B3 (niacin) was the primary vitamin found in the tested mushrooms, ranging from 0.0090 to 0.0731g/100g. The amount of vitamin B1 (thiamine) contained by KLU-M 1391 and IH 32 was 94% higher than that of the domesticated strain KLU- M 1227. Whereas three of the tested strains presented similar amount of vitamin B2 (riboflavin) which ranged from 0.009 to 0.0014g/100g.

*Pleurotus* mushrooms were said not to contain high level of all vitamins (Khan & Tania, 2012). This study is in agreement with Khan and Tania (2012) as vitamin B and C only existed in a very minimal amount in dried samples (Table 4.14). Vitamin B3 (niacin) showed highest amount in the mushroom, similar to the study by Phan *et al.* (2014). However, the vitamin B3 level of the wild parent KLU-M 1391 and hybrid IH 32 was 87% higher than that of the commercial strain (KLU-M 1227) and wild strain of *P. giganteus* as reported by Phan *et al.* (2014) and 57% higher than that of *P. ostreatus* as reported by Bautista *et al.* (1998). In this study, KLUM-1391 and IH 32 had 77-80% higher content of vitamin B3 than the RDI reported by the National Coordinating Committee on Food and Nutrition (2005). Bautista *et al.* (1998) stated that oyster mushrooms could be taken as a source of complex B vitamins. Vitamins are unstable and the amount can be affected by heating process and contact with chemicals (Furlani & Godoy, 2008). Vitamin D is absent in the mushrooms analysed. This is in line with the result reported by Mattila *et al.* (2001) that vitamin D was almost absent in the studied mushrooms. Breene (1990) also

**Table 4.14:** Vitamins of freeze-dried mushrooms (mg/100g) and Reference Daily Intake(RDI) for male and female aged 19 to 50 years old

Parameter	KLU-M	KLU-M	IH 32	RDI**	
	1227*	1391		Male	Female
Vitamin C	0.3	ND	ND	70	70
Vitamin B1	0.4	7.6	7.8	NA	NA
Vitamin B2	0.9	1.4	1.2	NA	NA
Vitamin B3	9.0	72.4	73.1	16	14

\*Phan et al. (2014).

\*\*National Coordinating Committee on Food and Nutrition (2005).

RDI: Reference Daily Intakes

ND: not detected.

NA: not available.

#### 4.7.5 Amino acid content

According to Table 4.15, the major constituent of essential amino acids were lysine (1.45-5.20g/100g), followed by leucine (1.50-2.30g/100g). Apart from lysine and leucine, the wild strain KLU-M 1391 showed the highest content of valine (3.80g/100g) and isoleucine (1.30g/100g) compared to the domesticated parent KLU- M 1227 and hybrid IH 32. Glutamine level of KLU-M 1391 was relatively high, which was 46% higher than that of IH 32. The presence of glycine in KLU-M 1227 was 79% higher than that of KLU-M 1391 and IH 32. Among the non-essential amino acids present in the tested mushrooms, aspartic acid and glutamic acid were of high concentrations especially in KLU-M 1391 and IH 32. Aspartic acid concentration of the three tested mushrooms ranged from 0.69 to 3.50g/100g whereas glutamic acid was 1.57 to 4.30g/100g (Table 4.15).

The parent KLU-M 1227 contained 8 essential amino acids and in agreement with Ruan *et al.* (2013), but the wild parent KLU-M 1391 and hybrid IH 32 only contained 6 types of essential amino acids. The conditionally essential amino acid, glutamines existed in considerably high amount (3.7-6.9g/100g) except for KLU-M 1227 in comparison with other amino acids found in the mushrooms. In accordance to Dong *et al.* (2010) who reported that essential amino acids comprised of 45% of the total amount of amino acids

in freeze-dried mushrooms, the essential amino acids of the tested mushroom strains were 42-46% of the total amino acids. The high content of essential amino acids of *P. giganteus* shows that this mushroom can be a component in a healthy diet for humans to gain the external source of amino acids since they cannot be produced in human body.

Parameter	Amino Acid	KLU-M	KLU-M	IH 32
		1227*	1391	
Essential	Histidine	1.54	ND	ND
	Isoleucine	0.77	1.30	1.30
	Leucine	2.04	2.30	1.50
	Lysine	1.45	5.20	3.70
	Methionine	0.31	ND	ND
	Phenylalanine	1.64	0.80	0.80
	Threonine	0.53	1.20	2.10
	Tryptophan	ND	ND	ND
	Valine	0.80	3.80	1.50
Conditionally	Arginine	1.14	1.20	1.10
essential	Glutamine	ND	6.90	3.70
	Glycine	2.90	0.60	0.60
	Serine	1.11	ND	ND
	Tyrosine	0.58	ND	ND
Non-essential	Alanine	1.11	ND	ND
	Asparagine	1.52	1.50	1.70
	Aspartic acid	0.69	3.50	3.50
	Glutamic acid	1.57	3.80	4.30

**Table 4.15:** Amino acids composition of freeze-dried mushrooms (g/100g) and Reference Daily Intake (RDI)

\*Referred to Phan et al. (2014).

ND: not detected.
## **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS**

This study showed that *Pleurotus giganteus* strains from two geographic regions, i.e. China and Malaysia were compatible and mated successfully with a frequency of 28.6%. The linear growth rate of *P. giganteus* did not correlate to the susceptibility to *T*. saturnisporum. Three hybrids with high linear growth rates and least susceptibility to T. saturnisporum were selected for cultivation and to compare their biological efficiency. In this study, soil casing cultivation method successfully solved the long coiling stipe formation problem of P. giganteus. Due to the high variation of environmental conditions in Malaysia, there was an inconsistency in the fruit body production by the cultivated strains during the three generations of cultivation. Incubation of the mushroom bags in a controlled room would probably increase the mushroom yield. Cultivation of P. giganteus was carried out in small scale in this study. Thus, optimization of the cultivation method of this species should be carried out in large scale and in farm conditions prior to commercialisation of this mushroom in Malaysia. To my knowledge, this is the first mating study of P. giganteus in Malaysia. Perhaps more mating studies with wild germplasms can be carried out in order to produce improved mushroom strains with better performance in many aspects such as the yield and growth rate, as well as to increase the income of the mushroom growers in Malaysia. Hybrid IH 32 showed high content of essential amino acids, potassium, niacin (vitamin B3), protein and dietary fibre. The high nutritional content and favourable morphological and physiological characteristics obtained in this study showed that this hybrid maybe a potential mushroom for commercialisation. Further large scale trials are essential to enable the transfer of this technology to mushroom growers.

## REFERENCES

- Akyuz, M., & Kirbag, S. (2010). Nutritive value of wild edible and cultured mushrooms. *Turkish Journal of Biology*, *34*, 97-102.
- Alam, N., Amin, R., Khan, A., Ara, I., Shim, M. J., Lee, M. W., & Lee, T. S. (2008). Nutritional analysis of cultivated mushrooms in Bangladesh-Pleurotus ostreatus, Pleurotus sajor-caju, Pleurotus florida and Calocybe indica. Mycobiology, 36(4), 228-232.
- Albert, S., Chauhan, D., Pandya, B., & Padhiar, A. (2011). Screening of *Trichoderma* spp. as potential fungal partner in co-culturing with white rot fungi for efficient biopulping. *Global Journal of Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 6(3), 95-101.
- Anderson, N. A., Wang, S. S., & Schwandt, J. W. (1973). The Pleurotus ostreatussapidus species complex. Mycologia, 65(1), 28-35.
- Avin, F. A., Bhassu, S., Rameeh, V., Tan, Y. S., & Vikineswary, S. (2016). Genetics and hybrid breeding of *Pleurotus pulmonarius*: Heterosis, heritability and combining ability. *Euphytica*, 209(1), 85-102.
- Baars, J., Hendrickx, P., Sonnenberg, A., & Korsten, L. (2013). Global collection of mushroom pathogens. Retrieved from http://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/fulltext/291075
- Badalyan, S. M., Innocenti, G., & Garibyan, N. G. (2004). Interactions between xylotrophic mushrooms and mycoparasitic fungi in dual-culture experiments. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*, 43(1), 44-48.
- Baike Baidu. (2017). *Zhudugu*. Retrieved May 23, 2017, from http://baike.baidu.com/view/1598511.htm
- Bao, D., Kinugasa, S., & Kitamoto, Y. (2004). The biological species of oyster mushrooms (*Pleurotus* spp.) from Asia based on mating compatibility tests. *Journal* of Wood Science, 50(2), 162–168.
- Baral, D., Roy, A., Thapa, S., & Bhutia, K. C. (2017). Development of intraspecific hybridization of *Pleurotus flabellatus* for better yield and nutrition. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 6(11), 735-742.
- Bautista, J. M., Alanís, G. M., González, D. M. E., & García, D. C. (1998). Chemical composition of three Mexican strains of mushrooms (*Pleurotus ostratus*). Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutricion, 48(4), 359-363.
- Bernaś, E., Jaworska, G., & Lisiewska, Z. (2006). Edible mushrooms as a source of valuable nutritive constituents. *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria*, 5(1), 5-20.

- Beyer, D. M., Wuest, P. J., & Kremser, J. J. (2000). Evaluation of epidemiological factors and mushroom substrate characteristics influencing the occurrence and development of *Trichoderma* green mold. In L.J.L.D. Van Griensven (Ed.), *Science and cultivation of edible fungi* (pp. 633-640). Maastricht, Netherlands: A. A. Balkema.
- Bisaria, R., Madan, M., & Bisaria, V. S. (1987). Biological efficiency and nutritive value of *Pleurotus sajor-caju* cultivated on different agro-wastes. *Biological Wastes*, 19(4), 239-255.
- Breene, W. M. (1990). Nutritional and medicinal value of specialty mushrooms. *Journal* of Food Protection®, 53(10), 883-899.
- Brown, A. J., & Casselton, L. A. (2001). Mating in mushrooms: Increasing the chances but prolonging the affair. *Trends in Genetics*, *17*(7), 393-400.
- Cai, D. H. (2013). *China Patent No. CN103396201A*. Beijing: State intellectual property office of the P. R. C.
- Callac, P., Spataro, C., Caille, A., & Imbernon, M. (2006). Evidence for outcrossing via the Buller phenomenon in a substrate simultaneously inoculated with spores and mycelium of *Agaricus bisporus*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(4), 2366-2372.
- Castellani, A. (1968). Long term maintenance and cultivation of the common pathogenic fungi of man in sterile distilled water. *Commentarii*, 2(17), 1-8.
- Chakraborty, U., & Sikdar, S. R. (2007). Production and characterization of somatic hybrids raised through protoplast fusion between edible mushroom strains *Volvariella volvacea* and *Pleurotus florida*. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 24, 1481-1492.
- Chang, S. T., Lau, O. W., & Cho, K. Y. (1981). The cultivation and nutritional value of *Pleurotus sajor-caju. European Journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *12*, 58-62.
- Chew, A. L., Desjardin, D. E., Tan, Y. S., Musa, M. Y., & Sabaratnam, V. (2015). Bioluminescent fungi from Peninsular Malaysia—a taxonomic and phylogenetic overview. *Fungal Diversity*, 70(1), 149-187.
- Cho, Y. S., Weon, H. Y., John, J. H., Lim, J. H., Kim, K. Y., Son, E. S., ... Cho, B. G. (2008). Effect of casing layer on growth promotion of the edible mushroom *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Mycobiology*, 36(1), 40-44.
- Dong, H. X., Cai, D. H., & Li, Y. (2010). Research situation and prospect of *Panus* giganteus. Edible Fungi of China, 29(3), 3-6.
- Eugenio, C. P., & Anderson, N. A. (1968). The genetics and cultivation of *Pleurotus* ostreatus. Mycologia, 60(3), 627-634.
- Fasidi, I. O., & Ekuere, U. U. (1993). Studies on *Pleurotus tuber-regium* (Fries) Singer: Cultivation, proximate composition and mineral contents of sclerotia. *Food Chemistry*, 48, 255-258.

- Flores, C., Vidal, C., Trejo-Hernández, M. R., Galindo, E., & Serrano-Carreón, L. (2009). Selection of *Trichoderma* strains capable of increasing laccase production by *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Agaricus bisporus* in dual cultures. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 106(1), 249-257.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2010). *Countries with the most exports of mushrooms 2010*. Retrieved from www.wherefoodcomesfrom.com/article/8438/Countries-With-The-Most-Exports-Of Mushrooms#.U7gTBvmSyBU
- Fukushima, M., Ohashi, T., Fujiwara, Y., Sonoyama, K., & Nakano, M. (2001). Cholesterol-lowering effects of maitake (*Grifola frondosa*) fiber, shiitake (*Lentinus edodes*) fiber, and enokitake (*Flammulina velutipes*) fiber in rats. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 226(8), 758-765.
- Furlani, R. P. Z., & Godoy, H. T. (2008). Vitamins B1 and B2 contents in cultivated mushrooms. *Food Chemistry*, 106(2), 816-819.
- Gharehaghaji, A. N., Goltapeh, E. M., Masiha, S., & Gordan, H. R. (2007). Hybrid production of oyster mushroom *Pleurotus ostreatus* (Jacq: Fries) Kummer. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 10(14), 2334-2340.
- Giraud, T., Yockteng, R., Villavicencio, M. L., Refrégier, G., & Hood, M. E. (2008). Mating system of the anther smut fungus *Microbotryum violaceum*: Selfing under heterothallism. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 7(5), 765-775.
- Gixhari, B., & Sulovari, H. (2010). Nature of inheritance and heterosis estimated on some morphological quantitative characters that influence the tobacco yield. *Scientific Studies and Researches-Biology*, 18, 46-50.
- Gülser, C., & Pekşen, A. (2003). Using tea waste as a new casing material in mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus* (L.) Sing.) cultivation. *Bioresource Technology*, 88(2), 153-156.
- Gupta, B., Niranjan Reddy, B. P., & Kotasthane, A. S. (2011). Molecular characterization and mating type analysis of oyster mushroom (*Pleurotus* spp.) using single basidiospores for strain improvement. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 27(1), 1–9.
- Guzmán, G. (2000). Genus *Pleurotus* (Jacq.:Fr.) P. Kumm. (Agaricomycetideae): Diversity, taxonomy problems, and cultural and traditional medicinal uses. *The International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, 2, 95-123.
- Hatvani, L., Antal, Z., Manczinger, L., Szekeres, A., Druzhinina, I. S., Kubicek, C. P., ... Kredics, L. (2007). Green mold diseases of *Agaricus* and *Pleurotus* spp. are caused by related but phylogenetically different *Trichoderma* species. *Phytopathology*, 97(4), 532-537.
- Hibbett, D. S., Murakami, S., Tsuneda, A., & Jun, N. M. (2008). Hymenophore development and evolution in *Lentinus*. *Mycologia*, 85(3), 428–443.
- Hibbett, D. S., & Thorn, R. G. (1994). Nematode-trapping in *Pleurotus tuberregium*. *Mycologia*, 86(5), 696–699.

- Hibbett, D. S., & Vilgalys, R. (1993). Phylogenetic relationships of *Lentinus* (Basidiomycotina) inferred from molecular and morphological characters. *Systematic Botany*, *18*(3), 409-433.
- Hibbett, D. S., & Vilgalys, R. (1991). Evolutionary relationships of *Lentinus* to the *Polyporaceae*: Evidence from restriction analysis of enzymatically amplified ribosomal DNA. *Mycologia*, 83(4), 425–439.
- Hilber, O. (1982). Die Gattung *Pleurotus* (Fr.) Kummer: Unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des *Pleurotus eryngii*-Formenkomplexes. *Bibliotheca Mycologica*, 87, 1-448.
- Holdrege, C. (2008). Unintended effects of genetic manipulation. *A project of the nature institute*. Retrieved from http://natureinstitute.org/txt/ch/nontarget.php.
- Huang, Q. R., Xin, X. L., Yang, L. H., & Pan, Y. S. (2005). Study of the submerged culture of *Clitocybe maxima* mycelia and its effect on isolated skeletal muscular fatigue induced by electric stimulation in toad. *Food Science*, 26(8), 86-90.
- Isikhuemhen, O. S., Moncalvo, J., Nerud, F., & Vilgalys, R. (2000). Mating compatibility and phylogeography in *Pleurotus tuberregium*. *Mycological Research*, *104*(6), 732-737.
- Jasalavich, C. A., Ostrofsky, A., & Jellison, J. (2000). Detection and identification of decay fungi in spruce wood by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of amplified genes encoding rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Mycrobiology*, 66(11), 4725–4734.
- Karunarathna, S. C., Mortimer, P. E., Chen, J., Li, G. J., He, M. Q., Xu, J. C., ... Zhao, R. L. (2016). Correct names of two cultivated mushrooms from the genus *Pleurotus* in China. *Phytotaxa*, 260(1), 036-046.
- Karunarathna, S. C., Yang, Z. L., Raspe, O., Ko Ko, T. W., Vellinga, E. C., Zhao, R. L., ... Hyde, K. D. (2011). *Lentinus giganteus* revisited: New collections from Sri Lanka and Thailand. *Mycotaxon*, 118(1), 57-71.
- Khan, M. A., & Tania, M. (2012). Nutritional and medicinal importance of *Pleurotus* mushrooms: An overview. *Food Reviews International*, 28(3), 313-329.
- Kim, K. Y., Lee, G. J., Ha, M. G., Lee, T. H., & Lee, J. D. (2000). Intrageneric relationships of *Trichoderma* based on internal transcribed spacers and 5.8S rDNA nucleotide sequences. *Mycobiology*, 28, 11-16.
- Klomklung, N., Karunarathna, S. C., Chukeatirote, E., & Hyde, K.D. (2012). Domestication of wild strain of *Pleurotus giganteus*. *Sydowia*, *64*(1), 39-53.
- Klomklung, N., Karunarathna, S. C., Hyde, K. D., & Chukeatirote, E. (2014). Optimal conditions of mycelial growth of three wild edible mushrooms from northern Thailand. *Acta Biologica Szegediensis*, *58*(1), 39-43.

- Komoń-Zelazowska, M., Bissett, J., Zafari, D., Hatvani, L., Manczinger, L., Woo, S., ... Druzhinina, I. S. (2007). Genetically closely related but phenotypically divergent *Trichoderma* species cause green mold disease in oyster mushroom farms worldwide. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(22), 7415-7426.
- Kornerup, A., & Wanscher, J. H. (1963). *Methuen handbook of colour*. London: Methuen & Co Ltd.
- Kothe, E. (2001). Mating-type genes for basidiomycete strain improvement in mushroom farming. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *56*(5-6), 602–612.
- Kumara, K. L. W., & Edirimanna, I. C. S. (2009). Improvement of strains of two oyster mushroom cultivars using duel culture technique. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 7(5), 654-660.
- Kumla, J., Suwannarach, N., Jaiyasen, A., Bussaban, B., & Lumyong, S. (2013). Development of an edible wild strain of Thai oyster mushroom for economic mushroom production. *Chiang Mai Journal of Science*, 40(2), 161-172.
- Larraya, L. M., Pérez, G., Iribarren, I., Blanco, J. A., Alfonso, M., Pisabarro, A. G., & Ramírez, L. (2001). Relationship between monokaryotic growth rate and mating type in the edible basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(8), 3385-3390.
- Larsen, M. J., Banik, M. T., & Burdsall Jr, H. H. (1992). Clamp connections in North American *Armillaria* species: Occurrence and potential application for delimiting species. *Mycologia*, 84(2), 214-218.
- Lavi, I., Levinson, D., Peri, I., Tekoah, Y., Hadar, Y., & Schwartz, B. (2010). Chemical characterization, antiproliferative and antiadhesive properties of polysaccharides extracted from *Pleurotus pulmonarius* mycelium and fruiting bodies. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 85(6), 1977-1990.
- Lee, C. Y., Park, J. E., Lee, J., Kim, J. K., & Ro, H. S. (2011a). Development of new strains and related SCAR markers for an edible mushroom, *Hypsizygus marmoreus*. *Federation of European Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters*, 327, 54-59.
- Lee, H. M., Bak, W. C., Lee, B. H., Park, H., & Ka, K. H. (2008). Breeding and screening of *Lentinula edodes* strains resistant to *Trichoderma* spp. *Mycobiology*, *36*(4), 270-273.
- Lee, J., Kang, H. W., Kim, S. W., Lee, C. Y., & Ro, H. S. (2011b). Breeding of new strains of mushroom by basidiospore chemical mutagenesis. *Mycobiology*, *39*(4), 272-277.
- Lee, S. S., Chang, Y. S., & Noraswati, M. N. R. (2006). Common edible mushrooms of orang asli communities in Peninsular Malaysia. Forest Research Institute Malaysia, Kepong.

- Mattila, P., Könkö, K., Eurola, M., Pihlava, J. M., Astola, J., Vahteristo, L., ... Piironen, V. (2001). Contents of vitamins, mineral elements, and some phenolic compounds in cultivated mushrooms. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49(5), 2343-2348.
- Mensah, D. L. N., & Obodai, M. (2014). Morphological characteristics of mycelia growth of two strains of the indigenous medicinal mushrooms, *Lentinus squarrosulus* Mont. (Singer), on solid media. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 9(23), 1753-1760.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-Based Industry Malaysia. (2012). National Agrofood Policy (NAP) 2011-2020. Selangor, Putrajaya: Author.
- Mortimer, P. E., Karunarathna, S. C., Li, Q., Gui, H., Yang, X., Yang, X., ... Hyde, K. D. (2012). Prized edible Asian mushrooms: ecology, conservation and sustainability. *Fungal Diversity*, 56, 1-17.
- National Coordinating Committee on Food and Nutrition. (2005). *Recommended nutrient intakes for Malaysia*. Retrieved from http://www2.moh.gov.my/images/gallery/rni/insert.pdf
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (2017). Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand. Retreived from https://www.nrv.gov.au/dietary-energy
- Noble, R., Fermor, T. R., Lincoln, S., Dobrovin-Pennington, A., Evered, C., Mead, A., & Li, R. (2003). Primordia initiation of mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*) strains on axenic casing materials. *Mycologia*, 95(4), 620-629.
- Nunes, M. D., da Luz, J. M. R., Paes, S. A., Ribeiro, J. J. O., da Silva, M. D. C. S., & Kasuya, M. C. M. (2012). Nitrogen supplementation on the productivity and the chemical composition of oyster mushroom. *Journal of Food Research*, 1(2), 113.
- Park, M. S., Bae, K. S., & Yu, S. H. (2004). Molecular and morphological analysis of *Trichoderma* isolates associated with green mold epidemic of oyster mushroom in Korea. *Journal Huazhong (Central China) Agricultural University*, 23(1), 157-164.
- Peberdy, J. F., Hanifah, A. H., & Jia, J. H. (1993). New perspectives on the genetics of *Pleurotus*. In *Mushroom biology and mushroom products*. Chinese University Press Hong Kong.
- Pegler, D. N. (1983). *The genus Lentinus: A world monograph*. HM Stationery Office, London.
- Petersen, R. H., & Bermudes, D. (1992) Intercontinental compatibility in *Panellus* stypticus with a note on bioluminescence. *Persoonia-Molecular Phylogeny and Evolution of Fungi*, 14(4), 457-463.
- Phan, C. W., Lee, G. S., Macreadie, I. G., Malek, S. N., Pamela, D., & Sabaratnam, V. (2013). Lipid constituents of the edible mushroom, *Pleurotus giganteus* demonstrate anti-*Candida* activity. *Natural Product Communications*, 8(12), 1763-1765.

- Phan, C. W., David, P., Tan, Y. S., Naidu, M., Wong, K. H., Kuppusamy, U. R., & Sabaratnam, V. (2014). Intrastrain comparison of the chemical composition and antioxidant activity of an edible mushroom, *Pleurotus giganteus*, and its potent neuritogenic properties. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 1-10.
- Phan, C. W., Wong, W. L., David, P., Naidu, M., & Sabaratnam, V. (2012). Pleurotus giganteus (Berk.) Karunarathna & K.D. Hyde: Nutritional value and *in vitro* neurite outgrowth activity in rat pheochromocytoma cells. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 12(102), 1-11.
- Qiu, C. J. (2015). Research on artificial selection and high-yield cultivation technology of delicious mushroom. *China knowledge resource integrated database*. Retrieved from http://oversea.cnki.net/Kcms/detail/detail.aspx?filename=1015525007.nh&dbcode =CMFD&dbname=CMFDTEMP
- Rajarathnam, S., Bano, Z., & Miles, P. G. (1987). *Pleurotus* mushrooms. Part I A. Morphology, life cycle, taxonomy, breeding, and cultivation. *Critical Reviews in Food Science & Nutrition*, 26(2), 157-223.
- Ramsden, C. E., Zamora, D., Leelarthaepin, B., Majchrzak-Hong, S. F., Faurot, K. R., Suchindran, C. M., ... Hibbeln, J. R. (2013). Use of dietary linoleic acid for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease and death: Evaluation of recovered data from the Sydney Diet Heart Study and updated meta-analysis. *The British Medical Journal*, 346, 1-18.
- Rebeca, R. C., Cecilia, M. C., & Hermilo, L. L. (2011). Strain improvement of edible fungi with *Pleurotus eryngii* neohaplonts. *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products*, 62-70.
- Redhead, S. A., & Ginns, J. H. (1985). A reappraisal of agaric genera associated with brown rots of wood. *Transactions of the Mycological Society of Japan*, 26, 349-381.
- Reis, F. S., Barros, L., Martins, A., & Ferreira, I. C. (2012). Chemical composition and nutritional value of the most widely appreciated cultivated mushrooms: an interspecies comparative study. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 50(2), 191-197.
- Rezaei, D. Y., Mohammadi, G. E., & Rouhani, H. (2001). Identification of *Trichoderma* species causing green mould in button mushroom farms, distribution and their relative abundance. *Applied Entomology and Phytopathology*, 69(1), 83-108.
- Ribeiro, B., de Pinho, P. G., Andrade, P. B., Baptista, P., & Valentão, P. (2009). Fatty acid composition of wild edible mushrooms species: A comparative study. *Microchemical Journal*, *93*(1), 29-35.
- Ro, H.-S., Kim, S. S., Ryu, J. S., Jeon, C.-O., Lee, T. S., & Lee, H.-S. (2007). Comparative studies on the diversity of the edible mushroom *Pleurotus eryngii*: ITS sequence analysis, RAPD fingerprinting, and physiological characteristics. *Mycological Research*, 111 (6), 710–715.

- Royse, D. J. (2003). Cultivation of Oyster Mushrooms. *The Pennsylvania State University*. Retrieved from http://extension.psu.edu/plants/vegetable-fruit/mushrooms/publications/guides/cultivation-of-oyster-mushrooms
- Roxon, J. E., & Jong, S. C. (1977). Sexuality of an edible mushroom, *Pleurotus sajor-caju. Mycologia*, 69(1), 203-205.
- Ruan, Z. Z., Ruan, X. D., Ruan, S. Z., Li, Y. G., Huang, Q., Jiang, W. K., ... Lai, W. H. (2013). Outdoor cultivation of *Panus giganteus*. *Edible and Medicinal Mushrooms*, 2, 123-125.
- Seaby, D. (1998). *Trichoderma* as a weed mould or pathogen in mushroom cultivation. *Trichoderma and Gliocladium*, *2*, 267-287.
- Singh, M., & Kamal, S. (2011). Validity of mycelial growth on malt extract agar and compost as selection criteria for initial screening of genotypes for yield and quality in Agaricus bisporus. Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products, 71-76.
- Sonnenberg, A. S. M., Baars, J. J. P., Hendrickx, P. M., & Kerrigan, R. W. (2005). Breeding mushroom: State of the art. Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products, Shanghai, China (pp. 163-173).
- Soytong, K., & Asue, T. (2012). Study on physiological and cultural requirements of *Pleurotus giganteus. Journal of Agricultural Technology*, *10*(4), 923-930.
- Stajić, M., Sikorski, J., Wasser, S. P., & Nevo, E. (2005). Genetic similarity and taxonomic relationships within the genus *Pleurotus* (higher Basidiomycetes) determined by RAPD analysis. *Mycotaxon*, 93, 247-255.
- Straatsma, G., Gerrits, J. P., Augustijn, M. P., Den Camp, H. J. O., Vogels, G. D., & Van Griensven, L. J. (1989). Population dynamics of *Scytalidium thermophilum* in mushroom compost and stimulatory effects on growth rate and yield of *Agaricus bisporus*. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 135(4), 751-759.
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A., & Kumar, S. (2013). MEGA 6: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(12), 2725-2729.
- Tomás, M., Sentí, M., Elosua, R., Vila, J., Sala, J., Masià, R., & Marrugat, J. (2001). Interaction between the Gln–Arg 192 variants of the paraoxonase gene and oleic acid intake as a determinant of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and paraoxonase activity. *European Journal of Pharmacology*,432(2), 121-128.
- Thi, B. K., Lee, S. S., Zainuddina, N., & Chan, H. T. (2011). A guidebook to the macrofungi of Fraser's Hill. Malaysia: Forest Research Institute Malaysia.
- Tongon, R., & Soytong, K. (2013, Nov). Evaluation of media and pH on the colony growth of giant mushroom (Pleurotus giganteus) in vitro. Paper presented at the International Conference on Integration of Science and Technology, King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Ladkrabang, Bangkok, Thailand.

- Ulhoa, C. J., & Peberdy, J. F. (1992). Purification and some properties of the extracellular chitinase produced by *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, *14*(3), 236-240.
- Urbanelli, S., Della, R. V., Punelli, F., Porretta, D., Reverberi, M., Fabbri, A. A., & Fanelli, C. (2007). DNA-fingerprinting (AFLP and RFLP) for genotypic identification in species of the *Pleurotus eryngii* complex. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 74(3), 592-600.
- Valencia del Toro, G., & Leal-Lara, H. (2002). Fruit body color in *Pleurotus* spp. hybrid strains obtained by matings of compatible neohaplonts. In Sánchez, J. E., Huerta, G., & Montiel, E. (Eds.), *Mushroom biology and mushroom products: Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Mushroom Biology and Mushroom Products* (pp. 151-159). Morelos, Mexico: Universidad Autonoma del Estado de Morelos.
- Valverde, M. E., Hernández-Pérez, T., & Paredes-López, O. (2015). Edible mushrooms: Improving human health and promoting quality life. *International journal of microbiology*, 2015, 1-14.
- Van Gerwen, H. (2006). *Don't underestimate the value of casing soil*. Retrieved from http://www.mushroombusiness.com/content/articles/detail/342/dont-underestimate-the-value-of-casing-soil
- Van Peer, A. F., Park, S. Y., Shin, P. G., Jang, K. Y., Yoo, Y. B., Park, Y. J., ... Kong, W. S. (2011). Comparative genomics of the mating-type loci of the mushroom *Flammulina velutipes* reveals widespread synteny and recent inversions. *PLOS ONE*, 6(7), 1-13.
- Vetter, J. (2003). Data on sodium content of common edible mushrooms. *Food Chemistry*, 81(4), 589-593.
- Wani, B. A., Bodha, R. H., & Wani, A. H. (2010). Nutritional and medicinal importance of mushrooms. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 4(24), 2598-2604.
- Wong, W. L., Abdulla, M. A., Chua, K. H., Kuppusamy, U. R., Tan, Y. S., & Sabaratnam, V. (2012). Hepatoprotective effects of *Panus giganteus* (Berk.) Corner against Thioacetamide- (TAA-) induced liver injury in rats. *Evidence-based Complementary* and Alternative Medicine, 2012, 1-10.
- Woo, S. L., Di Benedetto, P., Senatore, M., Abadi, K., Gigante, S., Soriente, I., ... Lorito, M. (2004). Identification and characterization of *Trichoderma* species aggressive to *Pleurotus* in Italy. *Journal of Zhejiang University (Agriculture and Life Sciences)*, 30(4), 469-470.
- Zhao, G., Etherton, T. D., Martin, K. R., West, S. G., Gillies, P. J., & Kris-Etherton, P. M. (2004). Dietary α-linolenic acid reduces inflammatory and lipid cardiovascular risk factors in hypercholesterolemic men and women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134(11), 2991-2997.
- Zhishu, B., Guoyang, Z., & Taihui, L. (1993). *The macrofungus flora of China's Guangdong Province*. Hong Kong: The Chinese University Press.